
 
 

 
 
 
28 January 2020 
 
 
To: Councillors D Coleman, Hobson, Hunter, Hutton, Matthews, O'Hara, D Scott, Mrs Scott 

and Wing  
 

The above members are requested to attend the:  
 

ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

Thursday, 6 February 2020 at 6.00 pm 
in Committee Room A, Town Hall, Blackpool 

 

A G E N D A 
 
 

1  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 

 Members are asked to declare any interests in the items under consideration and in 
doing so state:  
 
(1) the type of interest concerned either a 
 

(a) personal interest 
(b) prejudicial interest  
(c) disclosable pecuniary interest (DPI) 

 
and 
 
(2) the nature of the interest concerned 
 
If any member requires advice on declarations of interests, they are advised to contact 
the Head of Democratic Governance in advance of the meeting. 

 
2  MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING HELD ON 7 JANUARY 2020  (Pages 1 - 6) 

 
 To agree the minutes of the last meeting held on 7 January 2020 as a true and correct 

record. 
 

3  PUBLIC SPEAKING   
 

 To consider any applications from members of the public to speak at the meeting. 
 

Public Document Pack



4  BLACKPOOL FULFILLING LIVES  (Pages 7 - 14) 
 

 To update the Adult Social Care and Health Scrutiny Committee on the work of 
Blackpool Fulfilling Lives (BFL) and on the work being undertaken by the BFL Strategic 
Board to effect systemic change in Blackpool for people with Multiple Disadvantages. 

 
5  LIBERTY PROTECTION SAFEGUARDS  (Pages 15 - 20) 

 
 To inform the Committee about the Liberty Protection Safeguards (LPS) Scheme that 

has superseded the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS). 
 

6  SMOKING CESSATION EVALUATION  (Pages 21 - 42) 
 

 To present an update on the pilot Stop Smoking model for Blackpool and developments 
in line with the changing landscape.  

 
7  LANCASHIRE AND SOUTH CUMBRIA INTEGRATED CARE SYSTEM (ICS) STRATEGY 

 (Pages 43 - 84) 
 

 To update the Committee on the development of the Lancashire and South Cumbria 
Integrated Care System (ICS) five year strategy and provide an opportunity for 
Members to discuss the content and provide feedback to support the production of the 
final strategy document.   

 
8  HEALTHY WEIGHT SCRUTINY REVIEW FINAL REPORT  (Pages 85 - 108) 

 
 To approve the final report of the Healthy Weight Scrutiny Review and submit it to the 

Executive for consideration. 
 

9  JOINT COMMITTEE TERMS OF REFERENCE  (Pages 109 - 118) 
 

 To approve the terms of reference for the Joint Health Scrutiny Committee for the 
Lancashire and South Cumbria Integrated Care System and appoint three Committee 
Members to the Joint Committee. 

 
10  SCRUTINY WORKPLAN  (Pages 119 - 136) 

 
 To review the work of the Committee, the implementation of recommendations and 

approve the scoping documents for reviews on Supported Housing and Drug Related 
Deaths. 

 
11  DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING   

 
 To note the date and time of the next meeting as the Special Committee meeting on 

Mental Health Services on 25 March 2020, commencing at 6.00pm. 
  
 

 



Venue information: 
 
First floor meeting room (lift available), accessible toilets (ground floor), no-smoking building. 
 

Other information: 
 

For queries regarding this agenda please contact Sharon Davis, Scrutiny Manager, Tel: 01253 
477213, e-mail sharon.davis@blackpool.gov.uk 
 

Copies of agendas and minutes of Council and committee meetings are available on the 
Council’s website at www.blackpool.gov.uk. 

 

http://www.blackpool.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES OF ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE MEETING - 
TUESDAY, 7 JANUARY 2020 

 
 

Present:  
 
Councillor Hobson (in the Chair) 
 
Councillors 
 
D Coleman 
Critchley 

Hunter 
O'Hara 

Mrs Scott 
Wilshaw 

Wing 

 
In Attendance:  
 
Ms Karen Smith, Director of Adult Services (Items 1-5 Only) 
Ms Kate Aldridge, Head of Commissioning and Corporate Delivery 
Ms Louise Jones, Head of Benefits and Customer Service 
Ms Vikki Piper, Housing Options Manager 
Mrs Sharon Davis, Scrutiny Manager 
 
Councillor Lynn Williams, Cabinet Member for Adult Services and Public Health 
 
Mr David Bonson, Chief Executive, Fylde Coast Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 
Mr Roy Fisher, Chairman, Fylde CCG 
Mr Peter Murphy, Director of Nursing, Blackpool Teaching Hospitals (BTH) NHS 
Foundation Trust 
Ms Janet Barnsley, Executive Director of Operations - Planned Care, BTH 
Ms Kate Newton, Performance and Quality Manager, Fylde CCG 
Mr Stephen Ashley, Independent Chair, Blackpool Safeguarding Adult Board 
 
1  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
Councillor Jim Hobson declared a personal interest in Item 9 ‘Blackpool Safeguarding 
Adult Board Annual Report’, the nature of the interest that he was a non-Executive 
Director at Blackpool Coastal Housing Limited. 
 
2  MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING HELD ON 16 OCTOBER 2019 
 
The minutes of the previous meeting held on 16 October 2019, were signed by the 
Chairman as a true and correct record. 
 
3  PUBLIC SPEAKING 
 
There were no requests for public speaking on this occasion. 
 
4  FORWARD PLAN 
 
The Committee noted the previous involvement of Members in the decisions scheduled 
to be taken on the revised Alcohol Strategy and Drug Harm Reduction Strategy. 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



MINUTES OF ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE MEETING - 
TUESDAY, 7 JANUARY 2020 

 
 

5  EXECUTIVE DECISIONS 
 
The Committee noted the officer delegated decision taken by the Director of Adult 
Services regarding the ‘Learning Disability and Autism Short Breaks Service’ and queried 
whether the additional bed nights would meet demand. Ms Karen Smith, Director of 
Adult Services advised that the extra bed nights would meet current insufficiency and 
allow for a predicted increase in demand. 
 
6  BLACKPOOL TEACHING HOSPITALS NHS FOUNDATION TRUST CQC INSPECTION 
 
Mr Peter Murphy, Director of Nursing, Blackpool Teaching Hospitals (BTH) NHS 
Foundation Trust highlighted the outcomes of the recent Care Quality Commission (CQC) 
inspection report of BTH and specifically referenced the model to be used for monitoring 
improvement and the robust approach that the Trust was taking to make improvements. 
 
The Committee considered the recent inspection report in detail, and noted the previous 
full inspection of the Trust carried out by the CQC in 2014, which had resulted in a similar 
judgement. Members cited the lack of improvement made between the two inspections 
and asked for assurance that action would now be taken. Mr Murphy advised that a new 
senior leadership team was now in place and that the Trust had set out how 
improvement would be monitored and would be happy to report back to the Committee 
on a regular basis to demonstrate the improvement. 
 
In response to a question, Mr Murphy advised that frontline staff had been engaged in 
the improvement process and it was recognised that staff knew best how to transform 
services. Whilst staff had been empowered to make improvements it was also important 
to take a co-ordinated approach and bring departments together once improvement had 
been evidenced in order to scale up developments across the organisation in an 
organised and well managed manner. Members referenced anecdotal evidence that 
suggested wards at the hospital could be very different in their treatment of patients and 
Mr Murphy advised that the Trust was trying to standardise best practice. 
 
Members noted that the strand ‘well led’ had been judged as ‘inadequate’ by the CQC 
inspection when in 2014 ‘well led’ it had been judged as ‘requires improvement’ 
suggesting deteriorating performance. The importance of good leadership was noted and 
Mr Murphy advised that the new Executive team was committed to being visible and 
present across the organisation and was dedicated to patient safety. 
 
With regards to mental health pathways, it was reported that the Trust had taken 
immediate steps since the CQC report to make improvements in the Emergency 
Department. Mr David Bonson, Chief Executive, Blackpool Clinical Commissioning Group 
advised that work was ongoing across the system on the crisis pathway and that 
improvements had been made through the opening of alternative avenues for presenting 
with a crisis to the hospital such as the Crisis Café. 
 
In relation to a number of other challenges made by the Committee, Mr Murphy advised 
that a new structure of governance was in place and the Trust was paying attention to 
every ‘must do’ identified by the CQC. He added that attendance at mandatory training 
had already improved. Page 2



MINUTES OF ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE MEETING - 
TUESDAY, 7 JANUARY 2020 

 
 

The Committee agreed to receive a further update in June 2020 on progress made against 
the CQC Diagnosis Improvement Plan and to specifically request the attendance of Mr 
Kevin McGee, Chief Executive, Blackpool Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust at the 
meeting. 
 
7  BLACKPOOL CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP HALF YEAR PERFORMANCE 
 
Ms Kate Newton, Performance and Quality Manager presented the Clinical 
Commissioning Group half year performance report to the Committee and highlighted 
key exceptions from within the report including the indicator relating to the percentage 
of patients seen within two weeks for breast cancer symptoms and the wait times for 
diagnostic tests resulting from the increase in demand for endoscopic procedures. 
 
Members noted previous discussions on the breast cancer wait target, highlighting that 
performance had required improvement for some time. In response, Ms Janet Barnsley, 
Executive Director of Operations - Planned Care, Blackpool Teaching Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust advised that the continued poor performance against target related to a 
cumulative total for the year and that recent month on month performance had 
significantly improved. It was noted that concerns remained around the service due to its 
size, complexity and niche nature. Mr David Bonson, Chief Executive Officer, Fylde Coast 
Clinical Commissioning Group added that the Integrated Care System had recognised the 
complexities in operating small, niche services and work was ongoing across the system 
to increase co-operation and improve flexibility. 
 
Length of stay was identified as a key issue in performance and Members noted previous 
work undertaken on discharge processes and queried the impact made. Mr Bonson 
advised that a number of different initiatives had been put in place and continued to be 
put in place in order to improve discharge processes. Reducing the length of stay of 
patients and reducing the number of ‘bed days’ remained key priorities. It was noted that 
a number of issues relating to discharge had not been solved, however, it was considered 
that work undertaken to solve issues relating to delayed discharges as a result of waiting 
for medication had been successful. 
 
The Committee considered that performance against a large number of indicators was 
poor and indicated that many services were not meeting targets and queried what 
needed to change in order to make significant improvements. Ms Barnsley advised that 
robust recovery plans had been put in place in order to achieve improvements. However, 
without significant investment many targets would not be achieved. Mr Bonson added 
that improvements had already been made, however, agreed with Ms Barnsley’s 
assertion that without additional resources including funding, staffing, estates; and with 
the population continuing to age and the levels of deprivation in Blackpool, it would be 
difficult to make a real impact on overall performance. 
 
8  PROVISION OF SUPPORTED HOUSING 
 
Ms Kate Aldridge, Head of Commissioning and Corporate Delivery highlighted the key 
issues in relation to the provision of support housing in Blackpool. She advised that 
supported housing premises were located across Blackpool and that key concerns related 
to how they were funded and the levels of support provided to tenants, who were all Page 3



MINUTES OF ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE MEETING - 
TUESDAY, 7 JANUARY 2020 

 
 

vulnerable adults. 
 
Members discussed in depth the support that was on offer to tenants and noted that it 
could be of questionable quality and that the lack of quality support often led to reports 
of anti-social behaviour and attendances by the Police at premises. There was also an 
impact on other services including housing options, mental health, ambulance services 
and the emergency department. It was noted that premises could house between 16-18 
units and accommodate vulnerable adults with extreme mental health issues with 
support only provided Monday to Friday between 9am and 5pm. Councillor Williams, 
Cabinet Member for Adult Services and Public Health added that the Council had no 
control over the location of premises and did not have the ability to inspect the support 
on offer. 
 
It was reported that some supported housing schemes were good and provided tenants 
with the support they needed to maintain successful independent living. However, it was 
considered that the number of poor schemes had increased. The Committee was 
informed that the Council was doing everything it could to prevent new accommodation 
being established and to challenge the value and support provided by landlords, however, 
there was a lack of regulation to give the authority the power to engineer change or 
tackle providers for not meeting their responsibilities. 
 
Ms Louise Jones, Head of Benefits and Customer Service provided an overview of the 
process used to consider applications for housing benefit for supported housing and 
highlighted the low threshold for the receipt of higher rate housing benefit, which was 
simply to provide more support than an ordinary landlord. In response to questions, Ms 
Jones confirmed that the full details of the support scheme did not need to be registered 
and that in some cases a minimal level of care was provided. She added that, whenever 
possible, the Council undertook to build a good working relationship with landlords. 
 
In response to further questions, Ms Vikki Piper, Housing Options Manager highlighted 
that the physical property was often developed to a high standard, however the Council 
had no authority to carry out Disclosure Barring Service (DBS) checks on service providers. 
It was further noted that the Government had carried out a consultation on the issue of 
supporting housing in 2017, however, no changes had been made to the process or 
regulations. 
 
Members were very concerned by the issues raised in the meeting and agreed to 
established a review panel meeting to consider the issues further. It was noted that the 
Tourism, Economy and Communities Committee must be involved due to the cross-
cutting nature of the issue and that the discussions at the meeting should be forwarded 
to the ongoing Housing and Homelessness Scrutiny Review Panel in order to avoid any 
duplication of work. 
 
The Committee agreed to establish a Supported Housing Scrutiny Review Panel. 
 
9  BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING ADULT BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 
 
Mr Stephen Ashley, Independent Chair, Blackpool Safeguarding Adult Board (BSAB) 
presented the 2018/2019 Annual Report of the Board and highlighted that many of the Page 4



MINUTES OF ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE MEETING - 
TUESDAY, 7 JANUARY 2020 

 
 

priorities detailed in the report were regarding processes rather than the work being 
undertaken to improve the lives of adults, something which he would rectify for the next 
annual report. 
 
The Committee referred to the previous discussion regarding supported housing and 
queried the role of the BSAB. Mr Ashley advised that a joined up approach was required 
in addressing the issues and agreed to participate in the scrutiny review established by 
the Committee. He added that partners including the Police must be invited to attend to 
provide a united and powerful voice. 
 
The number of safeguarding referrals was discussed and it was noted that of 932 referrals 
a risk had only been identified and action taken in 326 cases. It was noted that there was 
a threshold to meet in order to escalate referrals and that training was required of 
partners to ensure that appropriate referrals were being made. He advised that he could 
not be confident that everyone was being referred who should be. 
 
Members discussed attendance at training and Board meetings and noted that it was 
often poor. It was further noted that a previous recommendation of the Committee was 
to expect 100% attendance from partners at Board meetings .Mr Ashley noted the 
pressures placed on individuals with regards to mandatory training required in their 
professions and that improvements had been made to attendance at Board meetings. GP 
attendance at training was noted as particularly low and it was suggested that Clinical 
Commissioning Group engagement should be sought to improve training attendance. 
 
10  SCRUTINY WORKPLAN 
 
The Committee noted its workplan and the updates provided regarding recent scrutiny 
work undertaken through scrutiny review meetings on the Alcohol and Drug Harm 
Reduction Strategies, Head, Neck and Vascular Services Workstreams and Stroke 
Improvement.  
 
The Committee appointed Councillors O’Hara, Hunter, Hobson and Wilshaw to undertake 
the Community Engagement Scrutiny work. 
 
11  DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING 
 
To note the date and time of the next meeting as Thursday 6 February 2020. 
 
  
  
  
  
Chairman 
  
(The meeting ended at 7.57 pm) 
  
Any queries regarding these minutes, please contact: 
Sharon Davis, Scrutiny Manager 
Tel: 01253 477213 
E-mail: sharon.davis@blackpool.gov.uk Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6



Report to: ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND HEALTH SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

Relevant Officer: Mr Ian Treasure, Partnership Manager, Blackpool Fulfilling Lives 

Date of Meeting: 6 February 2020 

 

BLACKPOOL FULFILLING LIVES 
 

1.0  
 

Purpose of the report: 
 

1.1  
 

To update the Adult Social Care and Health Scrutiny Committee on the work of Blackpool 
Fulfilling Lives (BFL) and on the work being undertaken by the BFL Strategic Board to 
effect systemic change in Blackpool for people with Multiple Disadvantages. 
 

2.0  Recommendation(s): 
 

2.1 
 
 
2.2  
 
 
 
2.3 

To note the work of Blackpool Fulfilling Lives, a project that ends on 31 March 2021. 
 
That the Adult Social Care and Health Scrutiny Committee note the work being 
undertaken by the BFL Strategic Board to effect systemic change in Blackpool for people 
with Multiple Disadvantages. 
 
That the Adult Social Care and Health Scrutiny Committee receive an update on the 
project in 12 Months’ time.      
 

3.0  Reasons for recommendation(s): 
 

3.1  
 

Blackpool Fulfilling Lives is the only service in Blackpool that works with people who have 
multiple disadvantage not currently engaged with services. It is also entirely funded by 
the National Lottery Community Fund.  
 

3.2  Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or approved by the 
Council? 
 

No 

3.3  Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved budget? 
 

Yes 

4.0  Other alternative options to be considered: 
 

4.1  None. 
 
 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



5.0  Council priority: 
 

5.1  The relevant Council priority is: 

  Communities: Creating stronger communities and increasing resilience. 
 

6.0  Background information 
 

6.1  Blackpool Fulfilling Lives (BFL) is one of the 12 pilot areas in England that has received Big 
Lottery Fund funding to support people with multiple and complex needs. 
 
BFL is funded for seven years (2014-2021) and is part of the larger research and 
evaluation being undertaken by the National Lottery Community Fund. BFL works with 
people aged 18 years and over who are leading chaotic lifestyles to support them to live 
more fulfilling and productive lives. BFL engages and supports people who are not 
currently engaged in services, and who are living with Multiple Disadvantage (MD). MD is 
a combination of (at least two of the following) issues: homelessness, offending, 
problematic substance use (including alcohol), and mental ill health. BFL work in a person 
centred, non-judgemental way and understand that a “one size fits all” model does not 
work for this client group.  
 
Fulfilling Lives workers (Navigators) have small caseloads and are able to work with 
people for around two years. There are 19 Navigators, of these three are working in the 
‘Housing First’ project (small caseloads, intensive work), which is a partnership with 
Blackpool Council Housing Support and Access Team. 
 
The BFL Partnerships Manager also links in with the leads for Better Start and Head Start, 
two other lottery funded projects in Blackpool. Although BFL is for over 18’s only, there is 
a strong evidence base emerging that the causes of Multiple Disadvantage in adults are 
both Adverse Childhood Experience and Childhood Trauma, and so the learning from all 
three projects will create a robust evidence base for Blackpool. 
 
This report follows on from a report to the Blackpool Health and Wellbeing Board in June 
2018.  
 

6.2  At strategic level, there are four intended outcomes;  
 

1 Better Outcomes for service users (as we navigate them into local services). 
 

2 System Change (using learning from the programme here in Blackpool and 
nationwide to better support people who have Multiple Disadvantage) – this is 
discussed in more detail below.  
 

3 Coordinated Approach (working with service users, partner organisations on 
operations, and other lottery funded projects to agree what system change 

Page 8



should be). 
 

4 Empowerment of Service Users (this includes having service user involvement 
throughout the project’s governance structure, removing stigma, and co-
producing the service model). 
 

There are four main elements to the performance management of the BFL programme: 
 

1 National Evaluation. 
  

2 Local Evaluation. 
 

3 Quarterly Report to The National Lottery Community Fund (TNLCF). 
 

4 Performance Management Report to Strategic Board and Operational Steering 
Group. 

 
6.3  To date the programme has worked directly with 523 ‘beneficiaries’ in Blackpool 

(beneficiary is the term BFL was asked to use). All beneficiaries have a combination of 
multiple and complex needs including homelessness, problematic substance misuse, re-
offending behaviour and mental ill health and do not engage with services.  
 
Highlights of progress evidenced by reported data include: 
• 83% of beneficiaries who have had at least two NDT assessments have improved their 

score. 
• 62% of beneficiaries have improved their community living skills, self-esteem and well 

being. 
• 46% of beneficiaries previously rough sleeping or homeless have moved into stable 

accommodation. 
• 55% of beneficiaries have improved their emotional and mental health. 
 
Alongside experienced professional staff, we also employ volunteers including people 
with lived experience of areas of multiple needs, who have limited recent work 
experience. These people are trained as Navigators and supported to obtain a Health and 
Social Care qualification. A previous ‘Associate Navigator’ model has ceased as the 
programme does not have sufficient time to allow for training of associates, however 
eight out of the ten Associate Navigators have progressed to permanent professional 
roles either within BFL or with external organisations.  
 

6.4  During 2018, the BFL strategic board worked with partner agencies across Blackpool to agree a 
definition of systemic change and to agree a set of actions that will help to achieve this. The 
support of strategic leaders across Blackpool is now required.  
The System Change definitions is:  
 

Page 9



System Change will have occurred in Blackpool when through collaboration and partnership, a 
culture change for life occurs so that people at every level experience honesty, integrity, 
flexibility and kindness and then practise this with those asking for help, whoever they are, 
however they present, and whatever their need. 
 
The system change event in 2018 was followed by one in 2019 and this years is being held on 
the morning of Tuesday 25 February 2020. Any elected members wishing to attend are more 
than welcome but must book a place (this can be done on 6 February 2020). In terms of 
progress made in relation to system change, whilst the following list makes positive reading, 
there is still a long way to go:  
 

 A Lived Experience Team which is facilitated by local charity Empowerment has been 
instrumental in assisting statutory and voluntary sector organisations across Blackpool 
who want to change to do so.  

 

 A communications strategy that has created a compelling and current narrative on the 
challenges and solutions to the barriers faced by people with Multiple Disadvantage in 
Blackpool is underway.  This includes recognising organisations that live up to the 
values of Fulfilling Lives Blackpool, and who can demonstrate delivering on the system 
change definition, and achieving a Charter Mark and recognition scheme.  

 

 Fulfilling Lives has developed a community of practice, a Frontline Network that 
incorporates all aspects of Multiple Disadvantage in a regular forum so Blackpool (and 
Fylde coast) frontline workers can keep up to date with evidence based practice with 
this client group.  

 

 Fulfilling Lives has launched Encourage staff across organisations to adopt the values of 
working in partnership with MCN, so people are helped and stigma becomes a thing of 
the past.  

 

 Create support from strategic colleagues and commissioners.  There has been a good 
response from Blackpool Council’s Public Health Commissioning (linking with our Lived 
Experience Team) and Adult Social Care (Secondment opportunities fully funded by 
BFL for 12 months). Blackpool Clinical Commissioning Group have also shown interest 
in the findings from our evaluation reports.  

 
6.5  All evaluations for Fulfilling Lives are independent. The most recent is embedded in 

additional reading. Key points are:  
 
1. Investment in this type of support for people with Multiple Disadvantage can  
save money – saving of £500k for around 180 people in a 12 month period  
(£2,822 per person, over double the national average). 

2. There will continue to be a future demand for specialist support for people with 

 

Page 10



Multiple Disadvantage in Blackpool. 

3. Long Term intensive work with smaller cohorts is effective. 

4. Specific elements of the BFL model make a difference – navigator/client 
relationship; tailored; connecting people; housing first.  

5. Co-production works and BFL has several examples of how they have done this, 
including starting to engage with commissioners on how to globalise co-production 
with services that people experiencing MD will ‘touch’. 

6. A strategic approach to multiple disadvantages is needed. 

7. Blackpool can become a model of good practice in supporting the workforce, 
drawing on the experience of BFL, and partner agencies. 

8. Changing systems takes time, persistence and relies on the interest of those that 
can make it happen. 

9. Access to mental health services remains a barrier to individual client 
improvement. 

10. Therapeutic activities and activity based support is a key facet of successful 
engagement.  
 

6.6  Legacy is now the focus of the final year of Blackpool Fulfilling Lives. A 
comprehensive ‘closedown plan’ articulates the pace of change for winding up 
client work and employment of staff, including secondment opportunities for some 
navigators. It is anticipated that:  
 
1. The Lived Experience Team can continue with ‘legacy funding’ from Fulfilling 

Lives, subject to Lottery approval, for 12-18months post 2021.  
 

2. A social enterprise, overseen by Blackpool and Fylde Street Angels, to run a 
crazy golf course (Princess Parade, Blackpool Promenade) should be self 
financing by 31 March 2021.  

 
3. A series of learning events will be held across Blackpool throughout 2020/2021 

performance year to share the learning from the programme across the town.  
 
4. Blackpool Fulfilling Lives continues to be an active partner in the national 

learning from the programmes.    
 
 

 

   
6.7  Does the information submitted include any exempt information? 

 
No 

7.0  List of Appendices: 
 

 

Page 11



7.1  None. 
 

8.0  Legal considerations: 
 

8.1  None. 
 

9.0  Human resources considerations: 
 

9.1  Considerations will be needed in the future to workforce development, competency and 
service capacity for dealing with people who have multiple complex needs. Learning 
from the project will help to inform the workforce needs and the most effective 
approaches to working with people who have multiple complex needs.   
 
Initial evaluation has shown that staff resilience is crucial. Therefore the way staff are 
selected, and supported is a key consideration to a successful service.  
 

10.0  Equalities considerations: 
 

10.1  The project has an equality and diversity strategy, and action plan, tailored to Blackpool’s 
demographics.  
 

11.0  Financial considerations: 
 

11.1  The project is entirely funded by the Big Lottery until 31 March 2021. 
 

12.0  Risk management considerations: 
 

12.1  None. 
 

13.0  Ethical considerations: 
 

13.1  None. 
 

14.0  Internal/external consultation undertaken: 
 

14.1  Blackpool Fulfilling Lives has an active Lived Experience Team (LET) within all layers of 
governance of the BFL programme.  The LET are also speaking to people who may need, 
but are not engaged in, the BFL service to understand what could motivate them. The 
LET are part of Blackpool Fulfilling Lives, but independent, having been subcontracted to 
local charity Empowerment by Addaction under the supervision of the BFL Partnership 
Board.  The LET have grown from strength to strength and are now key partners in co-
design of local Public Health commissioning, Probation Services, Drug Services and local 
Department of Work and Pensions services.  
 

Page 12



The BFL Programme was co-designed with service users in 2013 as part of the original bid 
for the work, submitted by Addaction.  
 

15.0  Background papers: 
 

15.1 
 
None. 

 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND HEALTH SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

Relevant Officer: Karen Smith, Director of Adult Services 

Date of Meeting  6 February 2020 

 

LIBERTY PROTECTION SAFEGUARDS 
 

1.0  
 

Purpose of the report: 
 

1.1  
 

To inform the Committee about the Liberty Protection Safeguards (LPS) Scheme that 
has superseded the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS). 
 

2.0  Recommendation(s): 
 

2.1  
 

To comment upon progress being made, propose potential improvements and 
highlight any areas for further scrutiny which will be reported back as appropriate. 
 

3.0  Reasons for recommendation(s): 
 

3.1  
 

To ensure constructive and robust scrutiny of these areas of work. 
 
 

3.2  Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or approved by 
the Council? 
 

No 

3.3  Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved budget? 
 

Yes 

4.0  Other alternative options to be considered: 
 

 None. 
 

5.0  Council priority: 
 

5.1  The relevant Council priority is: 

 Communities: Creating stronger communities and increasing resilience. 
 

6.0  Background information 
 

6.1  
 
 

The law relating to the safeguards afforded to people in regulated care settings, (the 
Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards - DoLS) has been superseded by the Liberty 
Protection Safeguards, enshrined within the Mental Capacity (Amendment) Act 2019. 

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



 
 
 
 
 
6.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.4 
 
 
 
 
 
6.5 
 
 
6.5.1 
 
 
6.5.2 
 
 

6.5.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This paper does not seek to address why this has happened, but the failure of the 
DoLS scheme nationally (but not locally) to be fully implemented is a factor. The 
scheme has an expected start date of 1 October 2020, although this may slip due to 
recent attention paid to other legislative and political priorities. 
 
The criteria for somebody to be deprived of their liberty has not changed, and is not 
defined in the new legislation, but continues to have the same meaning as Article 5(1) 
of the ECHR. The “acid test” of deprivation is that if the person is not free to leave and 
subject to continuous supervision and control, then they are effectively deprived of 
their liberty. In order to be subject to a legally authorised DoL, and similarly in the LPS 
arrangements, is that you must also lack the capacity to agree to the restrictions 
which constitute a deprivation. 
 
The majority of people subject to a DoL are older people with a chronic degenerative 
cognitive problem, often one of the dementia types, whose understanding of time, 
place and person will be impaired, and this may, and often does, include physical 
health problems. However, there are also a number of younger people with similar 
needs for protected care, and some examples of these are people with chronic 
degenerative conditions like Huntingdon’s Chorea, people with a high degree of 
mental impairment, and those with severe brain injuries. 
 
Restrictions are broadly defined as per the “acid test” above, and then are personally 
designed around each individual’s own specific needs, with the aim being to allow the 
individual to have as much choice and control over their life as they can exercise. So 
for example somebody may not be safe to go out unaccompanied, but may be able to 
choose what to eat or wear.  
 
The LPS does not change all the existing DoLS requirements, but has some significant 
differences, and the major ones are highlighted below: 
 
Duration – this will move from a maximum of one year duration to a maximum of 

three years, following two one year authorised periods.  

Age – the age is brought down to anyone 16 or over, (previously 18), so extends in to 

the area of child care services. 

Assessors – under the present scheme everyone subject to the process requires some 

of the relevant assessments to be undertaken by Best Interest Assessors (BIAs), 

typically (but not exclusively) social workers. In the new scheme these are replaced by 

Approved Mental Capacity Professionals (AMCPs), but they will only be required 

where the person is objecting, is in a private hospital (whether objecting or not) or at 

the discretion of the responsible body. Existing BIAs will probably receive conversion 

training, and in future staff will need to do the new course for this qualification. 

However, the number of assessments by AMCPs is likely to be lower than those 

Page 16



 
 

6.5.4 
 
 
 
 
 
6.5.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.7 
 
 
 

 
6.8 
 
 
 
 
 
6.9 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

presently undertaken by BIAs. 

Place – under the old scheme, this applied solely to people over 18 in hospital and 

care homes, deprivations in any other setting would need to go to the Court of 

Protection. In the LPS it applies to any setting, including supported living and an 

individual’s own home. Together with the age changes this increases significantly the 

number of people potentially subject to such an authorisation. 

Responsible Body – under the DoLS scheme the body responsible for authorising all 

deprivations is the local authority. In the LPS arrangement these are shared, as 

follows: for people subject to Continuing Health Care commissioned services, it will be 

the Clinical Commissioning Group; for people in NHS hospital settings it will be the 

relevant NHS Trust; all other settings, including private hospitals within their authority 

boundary, it will be the Local Authority. Within these arrangements there is the 

possibility of one organisation managing these on behalf of the others with the 

appropriate legal agreements and adequate funding contributions. 

Prior to the decision by the Supreme Court in 2014, (popularly known as the “Cheshire 
West” case) which increased more than tenfold the number of people who should be 
considered for a DoL, the numbers subject to one in Blackpool were in double figures. 
Following this landmark case the government accepted that this would create new 
burdens on Local Authorities and provided some funding to assist with this. The 
Council would expect similar considerations to be made in respect of the impact of 
the LPS scheme, but have no detail of this as of yet. 
 
Blackpool, as of the 17 January 2020 had 572 people subject to an authorised DoL, 
with a further 153 that are presently in process. Obviously this fluctuates due to the 
health care needs of high numbers of those on an authorised DoL, but the numbers 
have grown year on year since 2014, and will continue to do so.   
 
The draft Code of Practice and the draft Regulations will provide the detail to better 
understand what the changes will mean, and how we, as a Local Authority, will have 
to develop, design and operate systems and processes to ensure we follow the new 
law. However, these were due in autumn but were delayed due to other central 
government priorities, and there is as yet no date for the publication of these. 
 
As the Council did following the changes in 2014 direct briefings will be provided, 
advice and support to providers of services affected. We will also need to consider 
how to ensure that other health and social care partners’ awareness, together with 
the broader community, of the changes is undertaken. 
    
Summary 
 
The LPS scheme will apply to more people due the extension of settings and starting 

Page 17



 
 
 
 
 
 

at a younger age. This increase may, in small part, be offset by a reduction in the 
number of assessments required as part of the process together with the ability to 
extend the duration thus reducing the repeat assessments. There will need to be an 
extensive publicity and educative programme to ensure there is a good awareness of 
the changes across a number of previously unaffected sites. Blackpool is in a relatively 
good position as the Council does not have any significant backlog of outstanding DoL 
authorisation requests, together with a reasonable number of qualified Best Interest 
Assessors. There will be an increase in the costs associated with the new scheme but 
this is difficult to quantify at this stage. 
 
Conclusion 
 
Without the Code of Practice and Regulations the above is only a tentative expression 
of what we understand will be required. Once these are published and considered a 
more authoritative understanding of what will be required will be possible. A future 
paper can be prepared once this is the case.        

  
 Does the information submitted include any exempt information? 

 
No 

7.0  List of Appendices: 
 

 

7.1  None. 
 

8.0  Legal considerations: 
 

8.1  Noted within the main body of report. 
 

9.0  Human resources considerations: 
 

9.1  None. 
 

10.0  Equalities considerations: 
 

10.1  None. 
 

11.0  Financial considerations: 
 

11.1  Noted within the main body of report. 
 

12.0  Risk management considerations: 
 

12.1  Noted within the main body of report. 
 
 

Page 18



13.0  Ethical considerations: 
 

13.1  Noted within the main body of report. 
 

14.0  Internal/external consultation undertaken: 
 

14.1  None. 
 

15.0  Background papers: 
 

15.1  None. 
 
 

 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report to: ADULT SOCIAL CARE  AND HEALTH SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

Relevant Officer: Liz Petch, Consultant in Public Health 

Date of Meeting:  6 February, 2020 

 

SMOKING CESSATION EVALUATION 
 

1.0 
 

Purpose of the report: 
 

1.1 
 

To present an update on the pilot Stop Smoking model for Blackpool and 
developments in line with the changing landscape.  
 

2.0 Recommendation(s): 
 

2.1 The Committee to note the evaluation of the pilot universal stop smoking offer in 
Blackpool and the impact of this model, the current inequities across the Fylde Coast, 
and proposed developments to achieve the Council Priority. 
 

3.0 
 

Reasons for recommendation(s): 

3.1 
 

To ensure constructive and robust scrutiny and discussion of the model of stop 
smoking provision in Blackpool and proposed developments as a result of the 
evaluation process. 
 
 

3.2a Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or 
approved by the Council? 
 

No  

3.2b Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved 
budget? 
 

Yes 

3.3 Other alternative options to be considered:  None 

  

4.0 Council Priority: 
 

4.1 The relevant Council Priority is: 

 Communities: Creating stronger communities and increasing resilience. 

  

5.0 Background information 
 

5.1 
 

In October 2018, a pilot new stop smoking model for Blackpool was commissioned 
offering three levels of support; self-management, universal community offer and 

Page 21

Agenda Item 6



 
 
 
 
 
5.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

support for priority groups, such as pregnant mums and hospital inpatients. The 
current community universal provision of support is through GP and pharmacy led 
services. Blackpool Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (BTH) provides maternity 
and in-patients services. 
 
Due to a reduction in the budget, a decision was taken to no longer fund Nicotine 
Replacement Therapy (NRT) in the universal stop smoking service offer.  Blackpool CCG 
also made the decision to discontinue the prescribing of NRT and move to a self-
funded model, taking NRT off the formulary.  Therefore, all Blackpool residents wishing 
to quit smoking were required to self-fund their NRT or be eligible for prescription of 
other relevant drugs. Current exceptions to this is for pregnant women who are 
provided with access to free NRT via Maternity Services, and patients who are 
admitted to hospital who are provided with free NRT whilst they are in hospital (in line 
with the hospitals Smokefree Policy). 
 
Recent data for Blackpool universal community services show that only few GP and 
Pharmacy providers are supporting residents and that the uptake of support and 4-
week quit rates are extremely low.  Of the 43 primary care and community pharmacist 
settings contracted to deliver stop smoking support, only three primary care settings 
and two community pharmacies had recorded more than 5 interventions between 1st 
October 2018 and 31 July 2019. 
 
A rapid evaluation of the pilot universal community services offer in Blackpool was 
completed in September 2019, when it was ascertained that providers perceived that 
the low uptake of support was as a consequence of self-funded NRT. However, as can 
be seen from Table 1, there has been a steady decline in Blackpool quit rates since 
2016/17 when a specialist smoking cessation service was in place.  This data suggests 
that changes to the service model have influenced these trends.  
 
Table 1. Number and rate (per 100,000 smokers) of four week quit dates for Blackpool 
residents (2013/14-2018/19) 

Period 
Blackpool 

North West region England 

 
Count Value Lower CI Upper CI 

2013/14 
 

1,350 4,308 3,876 4,792 2,328 3,743 

2014/15 
 

1,064 3,430 3,060 3,846 2,968 2,900 

2015/16 
 

686 2,365 2,088 2,675 3,953 2,598 

2016/17 
 

842 3,264 2,895 3,701 2,148 2,245 

2017/18 
 

290 1,138 972 1,323 2,284 2,070 

2018/19 
 

142 593 483 712 2,027 1,863 

*This pilot model includes maternity, in-patient targeted services that are not included in this evaluation. 

5.5 The evaluation showed that the GP/Pharmacy universal model, with multiple 
providers, was difficult to manage.  Despite GP and pharmacy services signing up to 
deliver the service, the level of commitment by a number of sites was poor.  

Page 22



Essentially, this was not a costly service as this is a ‘payment by results’ model with low 
uptake.  However, there is a concern for the high number of smokers who need help 
to quit, who are falling through the gap.  
 

6.0 Picture of Tobacco Smoking in Blackpool 
 

6.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
6.2 
 

 
6.3 

Tobacco smoking remains the single greatest cause of preventable illness and 
premature death in England with smoking attributable mortality in Blackpool being 
459.9 (per 100,000 population) compared to a national average of 262.3.  One in two 
smokers die prematurely attributable to smoking.  There is an overwhelming evidence 
base of associations between smoking and individual disease with smoking being the 
largest single cause of inequalities in health.  It accounts for around half of the 
difference in life expectancy between the lower and highest income group and 
smoking prevalence in Blackpool is 21.1%, 47% higher than the national average of 
14.4%.   

Smoking during pregnancy increases the risk of premature birth, low birth weight, 
birth defects and the development of respiratory problems.  Blackpool has the highest 
rate of pregnant women smoking in England, 26% compared to 10.8% nationally. 

These statistics show that smoking is an important risk factor that negatively affects 
the health of Blackpool residents. Maintaining a focus on reducing the prevalence of 
smoking in the local population should be a priority. Evidence shows that Stop 
Smoking Services with associated products such as Nicotine Replacement Therapy 
(NRT) and prescription pharmacotherapy (Champix) can increase the likelihood of 
smokers quitting by four times.   

  

7.0 Smoking Cessation challenges and opportunities 

  

7.1 
 
 
 
 
7.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

With the changing landscape for stop smoking services and tobacco control, Blackpool 
has seen a decline in the number of smokers who are quitting despite being a high 
smoking prevalence area. The Blackpool quit rate is now significantly lower than the 
national average.  
 
Prevention requires us to shape our services around the people who use them; 
ensuring they are both equitable and accessible.  The NHS Long Term Plan includes a 
stronger role for the NHS in commissioning some of the services currently led by the 
local authority.  This offers an ideal opportunity to work alongside each other to 
maximise a positive impact on tackling smoking: 

 The NHS has committed to embedding the Ottawa Model for smoking 
cessation. This means everyone admitted to hospital who smokes will be 
offered help and support to quit; 

 This offer will be adapted for expectant mothers and their partners.1 

                                            
1 NHS Long Term Plan 2019 https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/publication/nhs-long-term-plan/ 

Page 23

https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/publication/nhs-long-term-plan/


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7.3 
 
7.3.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7.3.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Discussions are currently underway with Commissioners at the CCG to ensure that 
there is a co-design approach to their work on implementing the ambitions within the 
NHS Long Term Plan. It is hoped that this approach will facilitate Blackpool Council 
Public Health to re-invest into community services and so provide a dedicated 
specialist stop smoking service.   
 
Proposal for Fylde Coast Partnership (NHS and Local Government) 
 
Maternity Stop Smoking Support 
 
This proposal is to provide pregnant women with an equitable stop smoking service 
across the Fylde Coast through Maternity at BTH.  The current disparity in services for 
residents across the Fylde Coast, are as follows: 
 

• The Maternity Stop Smoking service, currently commissioned by Blackpool 
Council Public Health, is available to pregnant women who are residents of 
Blackpool. The support is built into the Maternity service at BTH with an 
established opt-out smoking cessation pathway. 

• Fylde and Wyre mums-to-be are signposted/referred to the dedicated stop 
smoking service in the community, Quit Squad. 

 
The CCG would pick up the cost of the delivery of a Midwifery Health Trainer service 
across the Fylde Coast, ensuring that all mums-to-be (and partners) receive the same 
level of support. 
 
Inpatient Stop Smoking Support 
 
This proposal is to provide an equitable stop smoking service across the Fylde Coast 
for patients during their hospital stay at BTH, continuing post discharge.  The current 
disparity in services for residents across the Fylde Coast, are as follows: 
 

• NRT is accessible to all patients during their hospital stay.  Stop smoking 
support at the bedside is only available to Blackpool residents. 

• Fylde and Wyre patients are referred to Quit Squad on discharge.  Free NRT is 
available from this service for these residents.  

• Blackpool patients are referred to current community offer of support through 
GP and Pharmacy led services. They provide advice/information and 
behavioural support only (no access to NRT unless this is self -funded).  There 
has been very low uptake of this service. 

 
Under the proposal, the CCG would pick up the cost of the inpatient service across the 
Fylde Coast, ensuring that all patients who smoke receive the same level of support. 

                                                                                                                                  
 

Page 24



 
7.3.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7.3.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Universal Stop Smoking Support 
 
A Blackpool Fylde and Wyre CCG and Blackpool Council Public Health partnership 
approach to smoking cessation support across the ICP footprint, would allow the 
council to fund a more comprehensive universal offer that will support people to quit 
and reduce local smoking prevalence.  The agreed approach is to offer a fully evidence 
based service with access to free NRT and behavioural support via a dedicated 
specialist stop smoking service in the community.   
 
As Primary Care Networks (PCNs) form a key building block of the NHS long-term plan, 
provision of community specialist stop smoking support within neighbourhoods would 
be the preferred approach.  This would also provide a more equitable service across 
the Fylde Coast, as Fylde and Wyre residents currently receive a fully dedicated 
service in the community, whereas Blackpool residents do not. 
 
This partnership with shared management and finance responsibility will provide an 
opportunity to support an equitable, evidence based service across the Fylde Coast 
with seamless pathways. This approach will improve local services, reduce the current 
‘postcode lottery’ across the Fylde Coast and create better short, medium and long-
term outcomes for Blackpool residents. 
 
Under the proposal, Blackpool Council Public Health would pick up the cost of the 
universal community based specialist stop smoking service for residents.  Lancashire 
County Council would continue to fund a service for Fylde and Wyre residents. 
 
Young People Support 
 
The evidence is limited for stop smoking support for young people and this pilot was 
undertaken to test effective ways of engaging young people who smoke; including 
effective interventions to support cessation amongst this age group.   
 
Recommendations from this pilot included: 
 

• Provide education in schools and colleges on the impact of smoking through 
the PSHE programme which is mandatory from September 2020 

• Ensure that schools are able to access resources through the PSHE forum 
• Work with schools and colleges to offer delivery of very brief advice training to 

support staff to give opportunistic advice and information to young people 
who smoke 

• Undertake further work with employers to target the 18-25 age range. 
• Ensure young people friendly support from the universal community specialist 

stop smoking service offer. 
 

 

Page 25



7.3.5 Self-management 
 
The provision of a proactive telephone support for smokers attempting to quit which 
commenced 1 October 2018 (as part of the pilot model) offered callers from the 
Blackpool area the opportunity to take up an enhanced stop smoking telephone 
support service from the national helpline.   
 
However Blackpool residents have chosen not to take up this service with those 
contacting the helpline mainly seeking NRT. Communication issues were recognised as 
a barrier to this offer and the ability to hold lengthy conversations.  This was 
sometimes exacerbated by language barriers or hearing impairments, not conducive 
to phone support.   
  
Despite the ineffectiveness of the telephone support service, supporting self-
management will remain a key component in the proposed Fylde Coast stop smoking 
support offer, with evidence based self-care support materials including digital 
resources e.g. websites and apps with advice on stopping smoking and use of NRT.  In 
October 2019, Blackpool launched ‘My Quit Route’.  This is an evidence-based digital 
solution available via the browser on all devices, with the mobile app available on 
Android and IOS devices, enabling people to access support 24/7.    
 
Working in partnership across the Fylde Coast will provide opportunities to develop 
self-management tools and digital support in collaboration with local and pan 
Lancashire partners on shared resources. 
 

 
 

Does the information submitted include any exempt information? 
 

No 

 List of Appendices:  

 Appendix 6(a): Stop Smoking Universal Service Rapid Evaluation.  

  

8.0 Legal considerations: 
 

8.1 
 

None 
 

9.0 Human Resources considerations: 
 

9.1 
 

None 

10.0 Equalities considerations: 
 

10.1 
 

Smoking has a significant impact on health inequalities in the town and reducing these 
inequalities is a fundamental part of delivering a Stop Smoking Service. 
 
 
 

Page 26



11.0 Financial considerations: 
 

11.1 
 

If the proposed model is agreed, the CCG will take financial responsibility for funding 
healthcare based stop smoking services (in-patient and maternity) as recommended 
by the NHS Long Term Plan.  They will also reinstate NRT as an option for prescribing 
on the formulary. This will allow Blackpool Council to re-invest funding in an effective 
specialist smoking cessation model in the community. Importantly, this would provide 
a robust smoking cessation pathway across the Fylde Coast and bring the level of 
support on an equal footing. 
 

12.0 Risk management considerations: 
 

12.1 There is currently an inequitable offer of support to smokers across the Fylde Coast 
and the council has already received complaints from Blackpool smokers attempting 
to access free NRT and support in the community. 
 

13.0 Ethical considerations: 
 

13.1 
 

None 

14.0 Internal/External Consultation undertaken: 
 

14.1 
 

The evaluation of the current universal offer of stop smoking support in the 
community involved stakeholder engagement.  
  
In discussions with the CCG and LCC re: proposal for an accessible and equitable offer 
of stop smoking support across the Fylde Coast. 
 

15.0 Background papers: 
 

15.1 
 
15.2 
 

NHS Long Term Plan 2019 https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/publication/nhs-long-
term-plan/ 
NICE Guidance Stop Smoking Interventions and Services (March 2018)  
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng92 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 27

https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/publication/nhs-long-term-plan/
https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/publication/nhs-long-term-plan/
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng92


Appendix 6(a) 

Stop Smoking Universal Service Rapid Evaluation. 

 

Executive Summary. 

 

A new stop smoking service model has been piloted in Blackpool since October 2018, 

consisting of a universal community service providing support from primary care and 

community pharmacy settings; plus targeted services for in-patients, pregnant mums 

and young people.  

A rapid evaluation of the universal community offer has shown that the service is not 

effective. Although there are 43 primary care and community pharmacy settings 

contracted to deliver the stop smoking support, only 3 primary care settings and 2 

community pharmacies have recorded more than 5 interventions with Blackpool 

residents between 1st October 2018 and 31st July 2019. This does not represent 

comprehensive or equitable service provision across the locality.  

The pilot service is paid based on a Payment by Results model. The total investment 

allocated to the stop smoking universal service provided by GP and Pharmacy Led Stop 

Smoking Services is £38,660. The total paid is £8,670 (1st October 2018 – 30th June 

2018), reflecting the poor uptake and effectiveness of the service.  

The main measure of effectiveness for stop smoking services is the four week quit rate. 

Table 1 shows that the number of quits and the rate per 100,000 smokers have reduced 

substantially between 2013/14 and 2018/9. A brief history of the service provision is 

included in Table 1 and it can be inferred that these changes in service delivery have 

impacted to quit rates. Since 2013/14, the quit rate has reduced by 89% with larger 

annual reductions coinciding with changes to service delivery during 2015/16 and 

2017/18-2018/19. The Blackpool is quit rate is now significantly lower than the national 

average.  

 

 

 

Page 28



Table 1. Number and rate (per 100,000 smokers) of four week quit dates for Blackpool 

residents (2013/14-2018/19) 

 

Period 

Blackpool North 
West 
region 

England 

Service provision (type and 
provider) 

 
Count Value 

Lower 
CI 

Upper 
CI 

2013/14  1,350 4,308 3,876 4,792 2,328 3,743 Specialist service provided by 
Blackpool Teaching Hospitals 
NHS Trust 

2014/15  1,064 3,430 3,060 3,846 2,968 2,900 

2015/16 
 

686 2,365 2,088 2,675 3,953 2,598 October 2015 – Specialist 
service delivered by 
Solutions4Health 2016/17 

 
842 3,264 2,895 3,701 2,148 2,245 

2017/18 
 

290 1,138 972 1,323 2,284 2,070 

October 2017 – specialist service 
decommissioned and interim 
service provided by primary care 
and pharmacy settings 
implemented included funded 
NRT 

2018/19 
 

142 593 483 712 2,027 1,863 

October 2018 – Pilot model 
implemented in primary care 
and pharmacy settings with self-
funded NRT* 

*This pilot model includes maternity, in-patient and young people targeted services that are not included 
in this evaluation.  

 

Performance targets have been established for the pilot community service. The targets 

for primary care settings are set at 548 registrations with 244 quits per year.  The actual 

number of registrations from 1st October 2018 – 30th June 2019 (covering 3 quarters) is 

283 registrations with a total of 32 quits achieved at 4 weeks (69% of the target for 

registrations and 17% of the quit target achieved in Q1-Q3 of the service).  

Targets for community pharmacies are 624 registrations and 168 quits. The actual 

number of registrations from 1st October 2018 – 30th June 2019 (covering 3 quarters) is 

108 registrations with a total of 21 quits achieved at 4 weeks.  (23% of the target for 

registrations and 17% of the quit target achieved in Q1-Q3 of the service). 

Qualitative feedback shows that providers perceive that the requirement to self-fund 

NRT is largely responsible for the reductions in uptake and successful quits. However, as 

Table 1 shows, this decline has been a trend since 2013/14, and it is likely that the 

structural changes to the service model are largely responsible for the decrease over 

Page 29



time, although the recent lack of availability of NRT will have impacted on the most 

recent poor performance.  

Smoking remains the most important cause of preventable death and smoking levels in 

Blackpool are significantly higher than the national average. In order to provide support 

to residents to stop smoking, it is essential that Blackpool Council provide evidence 

based stop smoking services.  

NICE recommends that these services provide support to at least 5% of the smoking 

population (1,167 people in Blackpool) and achieve 4 week quit rates of at least 35% 

(408 people). The pilot model has not provided the comprehensive and equitable 

service required to meet these recommendations. Based on historical data (Table 1), it is 

unlikely that the primary care and pharmacy support with funded NRT model will be 

sufficiently effective, as this model did not achieve the recommended number of quits 

during 2017/18 and 2018/19. However, the data for specialist service provision during 

2013/14 – 2016/17 shows that the recommended quits can be achieved with this 

service model.   

In conclusion, the pilot community model, even with funded NRT, does not have the 

reach to achieve the NICE recommended service performance. Given this evaluation and 

historical data, a specialist stop smoking service with a single point of access and 

dedicated staff has the potential to provide an effective service.  

 

Recommendations. 

 This evaluation and the lack of effectiveness of the community model in terms of 

uptake and quits is noted. 

 Options for the commissioning of a specialist stop smoking service are explored 

via service redesign and potential movements of funds within the current 

budget. 

 NHS funding should be considered to contribute towards the commissioning of a 

specialist service and ensure NRT is available through the formulary.  

 The model for the specialist service can consist of four bases across Blackpool to 

reflect the primary care networks. 

 NRT should be funded and considered an incentive, provided weekly as a reward 

for setting a quit date and subsequent reduced CO readings.  

 
 

Page 30



Background. 

Smoking remains the leading cause of preventable death in England, contributing to 

16% of all deaths in 2016. Reducing smoking rates is important to improve health as it 

will reduce cardiovascular disease, respiratory illness and cancer, enabling people to live 

longer in better health.  

The smoking prevalence in Blackpool has been reducing over recent years and is 

currently 21.1%, which is still significantly higher than the national average (14.4%)2. The 

rate of smoking attributable mortality for Blackpool residents (459.9 per 100,000) is also 

significantly higher than the national average (262.3 per 100,000)1, and has remained 

relatively static over the last ten years. Smoking in pregnancy can have multiple negative 

effects on baby, increasing the risk of miscarriages, premature birth, low birth weight 

and respiratory disease. Blackpool has the highest rate of smoking in pregnancy of all 

local authorities in England; 26.0% of pregnant mums in Blackpool compared to 10.8% in 

England1.  

These statistics show that smoking is an important risk factor that negatively affects the 

health of Blackpool residents. Maintaining a focus on reducing the prevalence of 

smoking in the local population should be a priority. Evidence shows that Stop Smoking 

Services with associated products such as Nicotine Replacement Therapy (NRT) and 

prescription tablets can increase the likelihood of smokers quitting by four times3.  

Evidence also shows that the provision of a range of NRT can increase the likelihood of 

quitting by 50-70%, regardless of the type of setting. Face to face support is beneficial in 

supporting successful quits but is not essential for NRT to be effective4.   

The number of people quitting after four weeks of support is an important outcome 

measure for Stop Smoking Services. Table 1 illustrates the total number of four weeks 

quits recorded for Blackpool residents, showing that the number of quits have reduced 

since 2013/14 from 1,350 to 142 in 2018/19. The rate of quits per 100,000 smokers has 

reduced from 4,308 in 2013/14 to 593 in 2017/18. The quit rate for Blackpool residents 

is now significantly lower than the national average.  

                                            
2 Local Tobacco Control Profiles https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/tobacco-
control/data#page/1/gid/1938132885/pat/6/par/E12000002/ati/102/are/E06000009 (Accessed 
25.07.19) 
3 Health Matters: stopping smoking – what works? PHE. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-stopping-smoking-what-works/health-
matters-stopping-smoking-what-works (Accessed 25.07.19)  
4 Nicotine replacement therapy for smoking cessation (review). Cochrane Library. 
https://www.cochranelibrary.com/cdsr/doi/10.1002/14651858.CD000146.pub4/pdf/standard 
(Accessed 25.07.19) 

Page 31

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/tobacco-control/data#page/1/gid/1938132885/pat/6/par/E12000002/ati/102/are/E06000009
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/tobacco-control/data#page/1/gid/1938132885/pat/6/par/E12000002/ati/102/are/E06000009
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-stopping-smoking-what-works/health-matters-stopping-smoking-what-works
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-stopping-smoking-what-works/health-matters-stopping-smoking-what-works
https://www.cochranelibrary.com/cdsr/doi/10.1002/14651858.CD000146.pub4/pdf/standard


There have been significant changes to the stop smoking service during this period, as 

outlined in Table 1. Blackpool Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust was providing a specialist 

service when public health formally transferred to the Local Authority in 2013 and had 

been doing so for several years. In October 2015, Solutions4Health were commissioned 

to deliver a specialist service and continued to do so until October 2017. Primary care 

and pharmacy settings were commissioned to provide an interim service after this date, 

and this was developed into a pilot service with self-funded NRT in October 2018.  

Table 1. Number and rate (per 100,000 smokers) of four week quit dates for Blackpool 

residents (2013/14-2018/19) 

Period 
Blackpool North West 

region 
England 

Service provision (type and 
provider) 

 
Count Value Lower CI Upper CI 

2013/14 
 

1,350 4,308 3,876 4,792 2,328 3,743 Specialist service provided by 
Blackpool Teaching Hospitals 
NHS Trust 2014/15 

 
1,064 3,430 3,060 3,846 2,968 2,900 

2015/16 
 

686 2,365 2,088 2,675 3,953 2,598 October 2015 – Specialist 
service delivered by 
Solutions4Health 2016/17 

 
842 3,264 2,895 3,701 2,148 2,245 

2017/18 
 

290 1,138 972 1,323 2,284 2,070 

October 2017 – specialist service 
decommissioned and interim 
service provided by primary care 
and pharmacy settings 
implemented included funded 
NRT 

2018/19 
 

142 593 483 712 2,027 1,863 

October 2018 – Pilot model 
implemented in primary care 
and pharmacy settings with self-
funded NRT* 

 

There was a relatively large reduction in the quit rate in 2015/16, which coincided with a 

transfer of provision from BTH to Solutions4Health. The quit rate improved in 2016/17 

and then dropped by 66% in 2017/18 when the specialist service was decommissioned. 

The quit rate halved again in 2017/18 and is now significantly lower than the national 

average. Since 2013/14, the quit rate has reduced by 89%. 

It can be inferred that the historical changes to service delivery in Blackpool had a 

significant impact on the quit rate. This evaluation of the pilot service is conducted 

within this context. 

The Council currently funds a Stop Smoking model that consists of a universal 

community service consisting of support via telephone, GP or pharmacy; plus targeted 

Page 32



services for in-patients, pregnant mums and young people. This model was 

implemented for a pilot period: the universal aspect was implemented in October 2018 

and the targeted services were implemented in February 2019. The universal model is 

based on residents/patients self-funding their NRT although prescription based tablets 

are still available.  

This review aims to provide an overview of the current situation regarding the universal 

stop smoking service model and summarise the outcomes of the pilot period. It utilises 

service performance and outcomes data plus qualitative feedback from providers to 

draw conclusions regarding the effectiveness of the service. 

Methodology. 

This evaluation aims to understand the impact and effectiveness of the universal stop 

smoking service, which has been piloted since 1st October 2018. The Donabedian model5 

will provide the theoretical model for the methodology, and the results will be a 

combination of service data and qualitative feedback from service providers. The 

evaluation will inform recommendations to influence future commissioning of the 

service.  

The Donabedian model focusses on three inter-related components, as illustrated in 

Figure 1. The structure of the service has an impact on the service process, which in turn 

has an impact on outcomes. It is important to understand the service process to be 

confident that the changes in outcome are attributable to changes in delivery. In 

addition, the model takes into consideration ‘balancing measures’, which take into 

effect the unintended consequences and wider impact of the service.  

Figure 1 The Donabedian model.  

 

                                            
5 A model for measuring quality care. NHS Improvement. 
https://improvement.nhs.uk/documents/2135/measuring-quality-care-model.pdf (Accessed 25.07.19) 

Page 33

https://improvement.nhs.uk/documents/2135/measuring-quality-care-model.pdf


Table 2 shows the how these areas will be considered within the context of this 

evaluation.  

Table 2. Donabedian application to stop smoking universal service evaluation. 

Structure Process Outcome 

Investment into services 

Setting of delivery 

Number of trained staff to 

deliver the service 

Type of access to service 

Type of support 

Frequency 

4 week quit rates 

 

The data included in the rapid evaluation include information that is extracted from 

PharmOutcomes, the performance management system for the Stop Smoking Service, 

and qualitative feedback from current providers. Each provider was contacted by 

telephone and asked to answer a set of questions, which can be found in Appendix 1. All 

providers who had recorded an interaction with Blackpool residents between 1st 

October 2018 and 31st July 2019 were contacted (n=12) and all answered the 

questionnaire except one.  

Structure.  

The full Stop Smoking Service model is illustrated in Appendix 2. This evaluation focusses 

on the universal service, as represented by Level 2B and 2C in the service model. There 

are 31 community pharmacy providers contracted to deliver the service. Seven of these 

providers have recorded an interaction with a Blackpool resident between 1st October 

2018 and 31st July 2019, but only two providers have had greater than five interactions 

with the public. There are 12 primary care providers contracted to deliver the service. 

Five of these have had interactions with Blackpool residents between 1st October 2018 

and 31st July 2019, and four have had greater than five interactions during this time.  

The providers are paid using a Payment by Results model as illustrated in Table 3.   

Table 3. Payment schedule for Payment by Results model. 

Activity Value (£) Measure 

Patient sets a quit date 20.00 Date set recorded 

Patient achieves 4 week quit  35.00 CO Validated and recorded on 

database within set timescales 

Patient achieves 12 week quit 50.00 CO Validated and recorded on 

database within set timescales 

Page 34



Patient achieves 26 week quit 50.00 CO Validated and recorded on 

database within set timescales 

 

The total investment allocated to the stop smoking universal service provided by GP and 

Pharmacy Led Stop Smoking Services is £38,660. As the service is based on a payment by 

contact/result, the total paid is £8,670 (1st October 2018 – 30th June 2018).    

Ideally, all pharmacies and primary care settings would deliver the universal service to 

ensure that all Blackpool residents have easy access. However, only a small proportion 

of all GPs and pharmacies currently deliver the service. Between 1st October 2018 and 

31st July 2019, only two community pharmacies and four primary care settings had 

greater than five contacts with residents to support them to quit.  

Based on the answers to the questionnaire, there are currently 24 trained advisors 

working across primary care and pharmacy. Eight are pharmacists, nine are dispensers 

and four are nurse practitioners.  

Process. 

The majority of providers provide an appointment service for clients. In some cases this 

is because there are insufficient staff to provide support at all times; in others it is 

because it gives clients a chance to think through the commitment and be sure that they 

are ready to quit. Some providers have sufficient staff trained that they have someone 

available at all times for drop in. A drop-in service is more difficult to manage in terms of 

staffing and sometimes means that clients are waiting some time to be seen. However, 

for people who are motivated and keen to begin their quit attempt, a drop in provides a 

more responsive service.  

During the initial consultation, the client is provided with information regarding the 

service, available products and the need to self-fund NRT. Every provider commented 

that the requirement to self-fund NRT has had a significant impact on service delivery. 

Many people did not engage once they were made aware that the NRT was no longer 

funded, although some people did accept a prescription for Champix. In some providers, 

the prescribing of Champix has increased, particularly in patients with long term 

conditions but is contra-indicated in some circumstances. The perception from providers 

is that fewer people are asking for support to quit and GPs are making fewer referrals as 

the local community has become aware of changes, One primary care pharmacy noted 

that community pharmacies were referring to the GP for a Champix prescription, which 

they were then dispensing, but the community pharmacy was providing the face to face 

Page 35



support. A couple of providers mentioned that their case load has reduced from 10-15 

to 1 or 2, and the majority of those interviewed did not currently have any clients. One 

provider, who was prescribing an increased level of Champix, had not noticed a change 

in numbers.  

All providers saw motivated clients either once a week or every two weeks. There was 

some flexibility for telephone support, but a face to face appointment was always 

arranged for more intensive support and verification of quit attempt using a CO 

monitor. The majority of providers tried to contact any clients that did not attend an 

appointment by phone, but this follow-up was rarely successful. Some providers noted 

that the number of people who did not attend was sufficiently high that they did not 

have the capacity to follow up. 

Providers felt that the benefits of the universal model had reduced with the need to 

self-fund NRT, although they did feel that easier access and greater rapport was possible 

with pharmacy based services and staff. They also felt that the service was beneficial for 

pharmacy staff in improving their communication skills and developing a broader 

understanding of the community’s needs. The majority of providers noted that the 

service was particularly important in Blackpool, as smoking rates are high, a relatively 

high proportion of the population has routine or manual jobs, and there was a perceived 

high level of morbidity and smoking-related disease. Primary care settings felt well 

placed to support more complex patients, such as people with long term conditions and 

mental health problems.  

Providers unanimously stated that the self-funded NRT was a barrier to service delivery. 

They have observed a clear decline in contacts, and a primary care provider also 

discussed the difficult clinical conversation between the pharmacist and client when 

there are serious health conditions and yet the pharmacist could not provide NRT to 

support the client. Additionally, there was feedback regarding the challenge of 

supporting patients post hospital discharge and child birth, where NRT is prescribed. 

There was also concern that Champix was contra-indicated for some people. There was 

an acknowledgement across providers that quitting smoking is difficult and that the 

local community need all the support that we can offer them. The perception from one 

provider was that many people access contraband cigarettes and therefore NRT is more 

expensive to fund than continuing smoking. 

In terms of improvements to the service, re-establishing funded NRT was stated by all 

providers. Some providers also requested additional support from Blackpool Council in 

terms of sharing evidence and good practice.  

Page 36



The potential for case studies was explored with providers, but most providers stated 

that they had no or very few clients engaged with the service. One provider did give an 

example of a patient that had been seen that morning: a single mother, motivated to 

quit, but with epilepsy so Champix was contraindicated.  

Outcomes.  

The outcomes for the service are the most important consideration. The outcome 

measure for this service is the number of successful 4 week quits and the model has 

included Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) to understand the effectiveness of the 

service in supporting people to quit.  

Service performance targets for primary care settings are set at 548 registrations with 

244 quits per year.  The actual number of registrations from 1st October 2018 – 30th June 

2019 (covering 3 quarters) is 283 registrations with a total of 32 quits achieved at 4 

weeks (69% of the target for registrations and 17% of the quit target achieved in Q1-Q3 

of the service).  

Service performance targets for community pharmacies are 624 registrations and 168 

quits. The actual number of registrations from 1st October 2018 – 30th June 2019 

(covering 3 quarters) is 108 registrations with a total of 21 quits achieved at 4 weeks.  

(23% of the target for registrations and 17% of the quit target achieved in Q1-Q3 of the 

service). 

This indicates that the pilot model is under-achieving in terms of successful four week 

quits.  

Balancing measures 

The removal of funding for NRT has had serious consequences for the success of the 

service. The decision from the Clinical Commissioning Group to remove NRT from the 

primary care formulary now means that very few people in Blackpool are able to access 

free NRT, regardless of their health or economic status. This will have a detrimental 

effect on tobacco use on Blackpool by reducing the options available to people to quit.  

Although feedback was unanimous from providers that the decision to self-fund NRT has 

been detrimental, it is possible that clients are turning to e-cigarettes or other products 

to support their quit attempt without accessing local service. It is not possible to assess 

the impact, if any, of e-cigarettes on local services. 

 

Page 37



Conclusion.  

This rapid evaluation aimed to understand the impact and effectiveness of the universal 

stop smoking service which has been a pilot service since 1st October 2018. Although 

there are 43 community pharmacies and primary care settings contracted to deliver the 

service, only five of these providers had recorded greater than five interactions with 

Blackpool residents during the time period of the evaluation. This does not provide 

comprehensive or equitable service coverage across Blackpool.  

There was an understanding across providers that the service was required locally to 

support the public to improve their health and providers were committed to providing 

the service. Primary care providers felt sufficiently skilled to support patients with more 

complex health problems, including mental health problems, but these providers also 

acknowledged the challenge of encouraging patients to quit and then being unable to 

provide NRT. Some primary care providers were able to arrange prescriptions for 

Champix, but the majority of community pharmacists needed to refer the customer 

back to the GP for a Champix prescription, making the service disjointed. All providers 

felt that re-introducing NRT was the most important factor to improve the service.  

The data relating to successful quits and the qualitative feedback from providers 

illustrates that the impact and effectiveness of the service is inadequate. The number of 

successful quits is failing to meet the KPIs and is much lower now than in previous years. 

Providers are unanimous in their view that self-funded NRT is the cause for this, but this 

decline in successful quits has been evident since 2013/14 and it is reasonable to deduce 

that the changes in commissioning body and service configuration are playing as 

important, if not more important role, in reducing the effectiveness of the services. 

Table 4 summarises the advantages and disadvantages of the current model.  

 

Table 4 Advantages and disadvantages of community stop smoking model  

 

Advantages Disadvantages 

Cheaper to fund than a specialist service  Low cost effectiveness due to low uptake 
and poor quit rates 

Facilitates relationships with primary care 
and community pharmacy 

Difficult to manage due to the potential 
number of providers and turn-over of staff 
and therefore there is a lack of 
understanding regarding the quality of 
provision 

Page 38



 Difficult to obtain/maintain uptake from 
providers to deliver the service and 
therefore the is poor access to support 

 Does not meet NICE recommendations as 
is unable to reach the required numbers of 
uptake or proportion of four week quits 

 

Smoking remains the most important cause of preventable death and smoking levels in 

Blackpool are significantly higher than the national average. National initiatives to 

address the impact of smoking, such as Targeted Screening for Lung Cancer6 include 

stop smoking services as a required part of the pathway. In order to support these 

interventions and provide support to residents to stop smoking, it is essential that 

Blackpool Council provide evidence based stop smoking services, including the provision 

of individual support and pharmacotherapy7.  

NICE recommends that these services provide support to at least 5% (1,167 people in 

Blackpool) of the smoking population and achieve 4 week quit rates of at least 35% (408 

people)8. The pilot model has not provided the comprehensive and equitable service 

required to meet these recommendations. Based on historical data (Table 1), it is 

unlikely that the primary care and pharmacy support with funded NRT model will be 

sufficiently effective, as this model did not achieve sufficient quits during 2017/18 and 

2018/19. However, the data for specialist service provision during 2013/14 – 2016/17 

shows that the recommended quits can be achieved with this service model.   

In conclusion, the pilot community model, even with funded NRT, does not have the 

reach to achieve the NICE recommended service performance. Given this evaluation and 

historical data, a specialist stop smoking service with a single point of access and 

dedicated staff has the potential to provide an effective service.  

Recommendations. 

 This evaluation and the lack of effectiveness of the community model in terms of 

uptake and quits is noted. 

                                            
6 NHS England. Targeted Screening for Lung cancer with Low Radiation Dose Computed Tomography. 
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/targeted-lung-health-checks-standard-
protocol-v1.pdf (Accessed 08/08/19) 
7 The Cochrane Collaboration 2008. Individual behavioural counselling for smoking cessation (review) 
https://www.ncsct.co.uk/usr/pub/individual-behaviour-counselling.pdf (Accessed 09/09/19) 
8 NICE [NG92] 2018 Stop Smoking Interventions and Services. 
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng92/chapter/Recommendations (Accessed 09/09/19) 

Page 39

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/targeted-lung-health-checks-standard-protocol-v1.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/targeted-lung-health-checks-standard-protocol-v1.pdf
https://www.ncsct.co.uk/usr/pub/individual-behaviour-counselling.pdf
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng92/chapter/Recommendations


 Options for the commissioning of a specialist stop smoking service are explored 

via service redesign and potential movements of funds within the current 

budget. 

 NHS funding should be considered to contribute towards the commissioning of a 

specialist service and ensure NRT is available through the formulary.  

 The model for the specialist service can consist of four bases across Blackpool to 

reflect the primary care networks. 

 NRT should be funded and considered an incentive, provided weekly as a reward 

for setting a quit date and subsequent reduced CO readings.  

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 40



Appendix 1. Stop Smoking Universal Service Questionnaire 

Participating service. 

Thanks for taking the time to talk to me. You are a pharmacist/GP that provides support 

to Blackpool residents who wish to stop smoking. 

We are in the process of evaluating these services and as part of that really appreciate 

the opportunity to talk through the delivery of your service.  

We are contacting all providers and will compile the results of the questions to pull key 

themes relating to the services. Your service will not be mentioned by name in relation 

to any specific comment, but will be acknowledged as participating in the evaluation.  

The questionnaire asks questions about staffing and training; customer/patient 

pathway; and what you believe are the benefits of the service and how it can be 

improved. 

Staffing: 

1) How many of your staff are trained to support people to quit smoking? 

2) What roles do they have? 

3) Are patients/customer always able to see these people when needed? Or are 

there times when there are no qualified people in the pharmacy/practice? 

Pathway: 

1) What happens during the initial meeting/consultation with a person wanting to 

quit? 

2) What are the steps from setting a quit date to staying quit for 4 weeks? 

3) What active follow up do people receive? 

4) What data do you collect along this pathway? 

Views on service: 

1) What do you think are the benefits of the service? Up to 3 comments 

2) What are the barriers to the service? Up to 3 comments 

3) How can we improve the service? Up to 3 comments 

 

 

 

 

Page 41



Appendix 2. Stop Smoking Model 

 

 

Page 42



Report to: ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND HEALTH SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

Relevant Officer: Carl Ashworth, Strategy and Policy Director, Lancashire and South 
Cumbria Integrated Care System  

Tim Bennett, Deputy Chief Executive, Blackpool Teaching Hospitals 
NHS Foundation Trust  

Claire Lewis, Acting Executive for Governance, Patient Safety and 
Risk, Fylde Coast CCGs 

Date of Meeting  6 February 2020 

 

LANCASHIRE AND SOUTH CUMBRIA INTEGRATED CARE SYSTEM (ICS) 
STRATEGY  
 

1.0  
 

Purpose of the report: 
 

1.1  
 

To update the Committee on the development of the Lancashire and South Cumbria 
Integrated Care System (ICS) five year strategy and provide an opportunity for 
Members to discuss the content and provide feedback to support the production of 
the final strategy document.   
 

2.0  Recommendation(s): 
 

2.1  
 

The Committee is asked to consider the draft Lancashire and South Cumbria ICS 
strategy and provide feedback. 
 

3.0  Reasons for recommendation(s): 
 

3.1  
 

To ensure the Committee has the opportunity to review the draft strategy and 
provide feedback to shape the final version.    
 

3.2  Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or approved by 
the Council? 
 

No 

3.3  Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved budget? 
 

N/A 

4.0  Other alternative options to be considered: 
 

4.1  Not applicable  
 
 

Page 43

Agenda Item 7



5.0  Council priority: 
 

5.1  The relevant Council priority is  

 Communities: Creating stronger communities and increasing resilience. 
 

6.0  Background information 
 

6.1  The NHS Long Term Plan (LTP) was published in January 2019 and set out a range of 
ambitions for the NHS for the next five to 10 years.  All ‘Local health systems’ were 
asked to produce local plans for implementing the commitments set out within the 
LTP.   
 

6.2  The Lancashire and South Cumbria ICS strategy has therefore been produced to 
respond to this requirement and a copy is attached for discussion –the status of this is 
draft.   
 

6.3  Alongside the development of the ICS strategy, the Fylde Coast Integrated Care 
Partnership (ICP) five year strategy has been developed over a number of months 
using a ‘bottom up’ approach, taking into account:  

 National requirements, particularly those outlined in the LTP;  

 The emergent ICS strategy;  

 Various elements specific to the Fylde Coast, including:  
o The needs of the population (supported by a Population Needs 

Assessment undertaken by Blackpool Council and Lancashire County 
Council) 

o The challenges associated with care provision 
o Public and patient insight (supported by numerous activities 

undertaken by the communications and engagement team across 
several months) 

o Insights generated by commissioners and providers across all our 
partners in the ICP 

 
The first draft of the strategy is in the process of going through internal governance 
mechanisms before being brought to the Committee for formal discussion.  However, 
as part of the engagement phase on the first draft of the ICP strategy, there will be a 
dedicated engagement session for Local Authority partners on 16 March 2020 to 
discuss the content of the strategy and provide feedback to shape the final version, 
which will be brought to the Committee for formal discussion following completion of 
the engagement activities.   
 

6.4  Does the information submitted include any exempt information? 
 
 
 

No 

Page 44



7.0  List of Appendices: 
 

 

7.1  Appendix 7(a) – Draft ICS five year strategy  
 

8.0  Legal considerations: 
 

8.1  Not applicable  
 

9.0  Human resources considerations: 
 

9.1  Not applicable  
 

10.0  Equalities considerations: 
 

10.1  Not applicable  
 

11.0  Financial considerations: 
 

11.1  Not applicable  
 

12.0  Risk management considerations: 
 

12.1  Not applicable  
 

13.0  Ethical considerations: 
 

13.1  Not applicable 
 

14.0  Internal/external consultation undertaken: 
 

14.1  Not applicable 
 

15.0  Background papers: 
 

15.1  NHS Long Term Plan - https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/  
 

 

Page 45

https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



Working together to improve services and help people in  
Lancashire and South Cumbria live longer, healthier lives

Our Integrated Care System Strategy
Published January 2020

P
age 47

sharon.davis
Typewritten Text
Appendix 7(a)



Welcome 
We have an ambitious vision to empower and support 
healthy local communities, so that local people have 
the best start in life and can live and age well.
We are Lancashire and South Cumbria Integrated 
Care System (ICS), a partnership of NHS, local 
authority, public sector, voluntary, faith and 
social enterprise and academic organisations. 
We work together to join up health and care 
services, listen to the priorities of our communities, 
local people and patients and tackle some of 
the biggest challenges we are all facing.
Healthier Lancashire and South Cumbria is the name of our shared 
vision and five-year strategy for improving health and care services 
and helping the 1.8million1 people in Lancashire and South Cumbria 
live longer, healthier lives. To achieve this we will need to make 
difficult decisions about how and where our services are delivered and 
how we organise ourselves to achieve our aims as a partnership. 

We have listened to local people and worked together to set 
out how we will deliver the aims of the NHS Long Term Plan 
and address the most urgent needs of our population.

Morecambe Bay

Pennine
Lancashire

Central
Lancashire

West
Lancashire

Fylde
Coast

References
1. Source: NHS Digital. (December 2019). Patients registered at a GP practice.

2 Welcome Contents

P
age 48



Contents
Welcome 2

Our purpose – together we can make things better 4

Tackling our biggest challenges together 6

Key facts about our population and communities 8

Our neighbourhoods and local areas 14

Involving local people 16 

Integrating health and care 18

How we will deliver our strategy 19 

Making this happen 28

What this means for communities and our staff  30

The impact of working in partnership 32

Thank you and next steps 36

Our partners 37

This document is written for local 
people interested in developments  
in our health and care system, our 

staff and partners. It describes  
our plans for the future.

3Welcome Contents

P
age 49



Our purpose – together we can make 
things better
The partnership of organisations 
working across the Integrated 
Care System have agreed a clear 
purpose for our work together. 

This will happen in 
neighbourhoods, local places 
and across the whole of 
Lancashire and South Cumbria.

Our vision for Lancashire 
and South Cumbria is that 
communities will be healthy 
and local people will have the 
best start in life, so they can 
live longer, healthier lives.

We will have 
healthy 

communities

We will have 
high quality and 
efficient services

We will have a 
health and care 

service that works 
for everyone, 

including our staff

At the heart of this vision are the following ambitions:

4 Our purpose – together we can make things better Our purpose – together we can make things better

P
age 50



Across Lancashire and South Cumbria

In your local area 

•  Most care will be locally delivered,  
managed and planned

•  We will make the best use of all the  
expertise and staff skills available to us

•  We will talk to you and your community  
about how best to provide care

•  You know best what you and  
your community needs

•  We will work 
together on issues 
like mental health, 
stroke, cancer and 
urgent care

•  Our hospitals will 
work together so 
you have the best 
treatment possible

•  We will use 
technology to share 
health records and 
make it easier to 
book appointments

•  As much of our 
finances as possible 
will be spent in  
local places

•  We will manage  
our spending better

In your neighbourhood and community 

•  Health and social care will work together to  
support your social needs, physical and  
mental health and wellbeing

•  You will be supported to care for yourself where  
you can, including using digital technology

•  Community groups and local teams,  
including your GP, will work with you

•  You will be encouraged to take an  
active role in managing your own  
health and wellbeing and to support  
others in your community 

Our vision for Lancashire  
and South Cumbria 

5Our purpose – together we can make things better Our purpose – together we can make things better

P
age 51



Tackling our biggest 
challenges together
Our partners across Lancashire 
and South Cumbria are committed 
to taking coordinated action to 
improve health and wellbeing, 
provide clinically sustainable 
services and to do this within 
available resources.

We need to accelerate changing the way we provide 
services across Lancashire and South Cumbria over  
the next four years. 

We will take action as a partnership to:

•  Reduce health inequalities

•  Improve our performance on national targets, 
particularly for waiting times for urgent treatment, 
cancer services and routine surgery

• Provide more consistent, high quality care for everyone

•  Deliver more care in our local communities

•  Ensure good care at the end of life

•  Make better use of our collective resources  
and stop overspending on our budgets.

6 What do we need to tackle? What do we need to tackle?

P
age 52



To tackle these challenges, the partners across Lancashire 
and South Cumbria recognise that we need to change 
how services are provided to offer more joined-up, 
proactive care that is organised in neighbourhoods.

This change needs to be led by clinicians – including 
doctors, nurses and health professionals, who know 
that tailored and personalised care will support local 
people, carers and families to live healthier lives within 
their communities. We will fully involve local people and 
patients in changes to services.

This cannot be done without significantly changing 
the way organisations invest in, provide and manage 
the whole health and care system including GPs, A&Es, 
specialist centres, hospitals and care services.

A change in the way we use our resources is required to 
enable us to increase our focus on promoting good health 
and preventing illness as we work with local residents, 
as well as ensuring we can provide safe and effective 
treatment when people do become unwell. There are 
already dynamic examples of this starting to happen  
in Lancashire and South Cumbria.

There are currently a number of fragile services, which 
are unsustainable in their current form. The required 
workforce for the service structures simply does not 
exist. Despite a number of national and local workforce 
initiatives, the likelihood is that for the medium term the 
prospects for filling staffing vacancies remains poor. If 
the partnership does not change the way in which these 
services are organised, they will fail.

The evidence for financial unsustainability in some 
services is also clear. NHS trusts in Lancashire and South 
Cumbria are spending more than the income they 
receive, meaning that they are increasing their level of 
debt and spending money that should go to other parts 
of England.

7What do we need to tackle? What do we need to tackle?

P
age 53



We now have a good 
understanding of our 
population’s health and  
care needs.

It will enable us to provide  
the right services, in the right 
place, at the right time to 
improve care and ensure the 
best use of resources.

This will help us to plan care 
more effectively and deliver 
better results for local people.

Our population

Key facts about our  
population and communities

Population of 
Lancashire and  
South Cumbria: 

1,785,0002

Population
over 65

National average

19.7%

One person households 
with people age 65+ 13.5%

Number of one person households  
with people aged 65 or over is 13.5%,  
national average for England is 12.4%4

Percentage of population in rural communities  
is 20.4%, national average for England is 17%5

Rural 
communities 20.4%

Percentage of population over 65 is 19.7%,  
national average for England is 17.3%3

References
2. Source: NHS Digital. (December 2019).  
Patients registered at a GP practice. 
3. Source: NHS Digital. (December 2019).  
Patients registered at a GP practice.
4. Source: ONS. Census 2011. 
Household composition – Households (QS113EW). 
5. Source: ONS Mid-Year (2018). 
Resident population estimate by LSOA.

8 Key facts about our population and communities Key facts about our population and communities

P
age 54



Our geography is varied across  
Lancashire and South Cumbria
The number of people per hectare  
(the size of a rugby pitch) is high in:

• Blackpool: 39.94

• Hyndburn: 11.07

• Blackburn with Darwen: 10.87

• Preston: 9.97

Compared to more rural areas:

• West Lancashire: 3.29

• Lancaster: 2.50

• Ribble Valley: 1.03

• South Lakeland: 0.686

Deprivation
Nearly one third (29.1%)7 of our residents  
live in some of the most deprived  
areas across England.

The percentage of people living in fuel 
poverty and unable to afford to heat 
their homes, is higher than the national 
average: 13.4% for Lancashire and 
South Cumbria, national average is 
10.9%8. 

A significant proportion of children 
experience adverse living conditions, 
including child poverty. This leads to 
significant variation in their development 
and school readiness.

The percentage of children living in 
poverty ranges from a low of 12% to as 
high as 38% in Lancashire and South 
Cumbria, the national average is 30%9.

6. Source: ONS. Lower layer Super Output Area population density 2018.
7. Source: ONS Mid-Year (2018) resident population estimate by IMD 2019 quintile.
8. Source: Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy. Sub-regional Fuel Poverty in England 2017.
9. Source: Stone, J and Hirsch, D. (2019). Local indicators of child poverty, 2017/18. endchildpovery.org.ukBlackpool

39.94

South Lakeland

0.68

13.4%
of people in Lancashire and  
South Cumbria are living in  
fuel poverty.
The national  
average is 10.9%.

Between  

12 to 38% 
of children in Lancashire  
and South Cumbria  
live in poverty. 
The national  
average is 30%.

9Key facts about our population and communities Key facts about our population and communities

P
age 55



Life expectancy in Lancashire 
and South Cumbria is lower  
than the national average 

There is a significant level of 
unwarranted variation in the 
number of years people can  
expect to live a healthy life. 

 Healthy life expectancy and 
disability-free life expectancy 
is predicted to be less than the 
expected state pension age of  
68 years10 for children born today. 

In some neighbourhoods, healthy 
life expectancy is just 46.5 years11.

The number of years females live in good health is above the national average 
of 63.8 years in Cumbria (65.4 years) and Lancashire (64.5 years). It is below the 
national average in Blackburn with Darwen (58.6 years) and Blackpool (57.8 years).

Female life expectancy by council area12

Cumbria - 82.8 years
Lancashire - 82.2 years
Blackpool - 79.6 years
Blackburn with Darwen - 80.1 years

National average 83.1

50 years 60 years 70 years 80 years 90 years

The number of years males live in good health is above the national average of 
63.4 years in Cumbria (64.4 years). It is below the national average in Lancashire, 
(61.2 years), Blackburn with Darwen (57.3 years) and Blackpool (54.7 years).

 

Male life expectancy by council area13

Cumbria - 79.4 years
Lancashire - 78.6 years

Blackburn with Darwen - 76.6 years
Blackpool - 74.2 years

National average 79.6

50 years 60 years 70 years 80 years 90 years

References
10. Source: ONS. Life expectancy at birth and healthy life expectancy at birth (2015-17).
11. Source: ONS. Life expectancy at birth and healthy life expectancy at birth (2015-17). 
12. Source: Public Health England Fingertips tool
13. Source: Public Health England Fingertips tool

10 Key facts about our population and communities Key facts about our population and communities

P
age 56



Approximately  

40%19

of ill-health in Lancashire  
and South Cumbria is due  
to smoking, physical  
inactivity, obesity and  
substance misuse.

The main causes of ill-health are cancer, cardiovascular, 
respiratory, mental health, and neurological conditions17.

Suicide rates are significantly higher than the national average 
across Lancashire and South Cumbria, particularly in  
Barrow-in-Furness, Blackpool and Chorley18. 

Much more needs to be done to encourage children to be 
active: just 15% of young people aged 15 in Lancashire 
are meeting the recommended levels of physical activity, 
14.1% in Blackpool and 12.4% in Blackburn with Darwen15.

Health and wellbeing
Around a fifth14 of adults are not meeting the  
recommended levels of physical activity.

Adults 
who smoke 18.5%

National average

18.5% of adults smoke, the national  
average for England is 17.2%16. 

Lancashire Blackpool Blackburn
with Darwen

15% 14.1% 12.4%

14. Source: Public Health England estimates based on the Sport England Activity People's Survey 2017/18.
15. Source: 2014/15 What about YOUth survey.
16. Source: Quality outcomes framework (QOF) 2017/18.
17. Source: Local analysis and interpretation from Public Health England and local public health intelligence.
18. Source: ONS. Suicide rates (10+) 2016-18.
19. Source: The King’s Fund. Time to think differently: Broader determinants of health: Future trends.

1
5
– 4

5
–

not
active

active

11Key facts about our population and communities Key facts about our population and communities

P
age 57



More than 

7.5million  
GP appointments

References
Hospital activity - source: SUS Hospital activity 2018/19. 
Ambulance call data - source: NHS digital. Ambulance Quality 
indicators 2017/18. 
GP appointments - source: NHS Digital experimental statistics GP 
Appointments 2018/19.

Lancashire and South Cumbria health service performance 

In 2018/19, we had: 

281,173 
local planned admissions  
for treatment  
or surgery 211,315 

emergency admissions

More than  

330,000  
attendances at A&E

358,590 
NHS 111 calls

2,880,582
outpatient appointments 

...with more than

697,022 
missed appointments

12 Key facts about our population and communities Key facts about our population and communities

P
age 58



Lancashire and South  
Cumbria receives  

10% 
more funding  
per person

The NHS in Lancashire and South Cumbria is  
spending more than the budget available to it

In 2020/21, the total budget for health services in  
Lancashire and South Cumbria is £3,525million.

Lancashire and South Cumbria receives around 10% more per 
person in funding compared to the average for England because 
of the higher level of need in our communities.

Lancashire and South Cumbria will receive an average growth in 
funding of around £150million per year between 2019/20 and 
2023/24.

In contrast, local authority funding for county councils and unitary 
authorities has reduced by around 40% over the last decade and 
growth for social care and public health budgets is uncertain.

Further work needs to be completed to create a plan that will see 
the health services in Lancashire and South Cumbria return to 
financial balance. 

The total budget for  
health services in  
Lancashire and South Cumbria is 

£3,525million 

Lancashire and South  
Cumbria will receive  

£150million  
average growth in  
funding per year

In contrast, there has 
been around a  

40%  
reduction in local  
authority funding

13Key facts about our population and communities Key facts about our population and communities

P
age 59



41 
Primary care 

networks

OPEN OPEN

Post OfficeFruit and Veg

248 
GP practices

Our neighbourhoods and local areas
To respond to what we can see in our population statistics, we have looked at how we can address  
the needs of our local populations within our five local areas and all of our neighbourhoods. 

About our neighbourhood approach
We are defining neighbourhoods as communities 
where all aspects of health and care services will 
come together: with local people, local authorities 
and voluntary and community organisations. 

Within each neighbourhood is a primary care network, these are a 
key part of the NHS Long Term Plan and are based on populations 
of between 30,000 and 50,000. They build on the core of current 
primary care services and enable greater provision of proactive, 
personalised, coordinated and more joined-up health and social 
care within neighbourhoods.

There are 248 GP practices20 in  
Lancashire and South Cumbria,  
working in partnership within our  
41 primary care networks.

References
20. Source: NHS Digital.

14 Our neighbourhoods and local areas Our neighbourhoods and local areas

P
age 60



OPEN OPEN

Post OfficeFruit and Veg

Numbers of people living in each area

Morecambe Bay: 352,000 people

Pennine Lancashire: 566,000 people

Fylde Coast: 354,000 people

Central Lancashire: 399,000 people

West Lancashire: 114,000 people

Total: 1,785,000 people live in Lancashire and South Cumbria21

Lancashire and South Cumbria 
Integrated Care System 
The Integrated Care System is a partnership, which provides  
strategic leadership across our whole population.

The partnership includes:
• Local authorities

• NHS organisations

•  Voluntary, community, faith and social enterprise organisations

•  Academic institutions, such as our universities

•  Public sector organisations, such as police  
and other emergency services

• Our local communities.

Five local partnerships
There are five local health and care partnerships: 
Central Lancashire, Fylde Coast, Morecambe Bay, 
Pennine Lancashire and West Lancashire.
These local partnerships include primary care networks linked 
together with other care providers such as hospitals, care homes, 
mental health and community providers, local government, 
voluntary and community organisations – alongside health and 
care commissioners.

Together, these partnerships assess local need, plan how to use 
their collective assets and join up what they offer – including  
how to make best use of overall public and community resources.

You can find out more about the work of our five local  
partnerships at: healthierlsc.co.uk/Local

21. Source: NHS Digital. (December 2019). Patients registered at a GP practice.

15Our neighbourhoods and local areas Our neighbourhoods and local areas

P
age 61

https://www.healthierlsc.co.uk/morecambe-bay
https://www.healthierlsc.co.uk/pennine
https://www.healthierlsc.co.uk/fyldecoast
https://www.healthierlsc.co.uk/central-lancs
https://www.healthierlsc.co.uk/WestLancashire
http://healthierlsc.co.uk/Local


Involving local people
Our partners continue to work 
with, engage and involve local 
people in changes and new 
ways of delivering services 
in neighbourhoods, in local 
partnerships and across 
Lancashire and South Cumbria. 
We have listened to the feedback 
of local people as we have 
developed this five-year strategy.

We hear from 
local people 

through:

Involvement of 
patients with lived 
experience, taking 

active roles on boards 
and steering groups

Surveys and questionnaires

Outreach with  
specific groups

Public engagement 
events

Workshops

Telephone 
interviews

Face-to-face 
interviews

Events with 
neighbourhoods

Community group  
discussions

In depth 
conversations

Comment  
cards

16 Involving local people

P
age 62



Local people have told us
•  They were not aware and did 

not recognise the changes and 
developments that are being made to 
the health and care system

•  They are positive about the inclusivity 
of the vision but raised concerns over 
a focus on the elderly at the expense 
of younger people

•  Opinion was divided over whether 
changes to the health and care 
system were a positive development, 
although it was evident that 
understanding of primary care 
networks and local partnerships  
and how they work is low

•  They felt positive about links  
being formed between different 
healthcare services

•  They felt positive about work taking 
place in some of our neighbourhoods 
where communities, health and care 
services and local organisations are 
working together

•  They are positive about intentions to 
improve community services

•  They feel there is a lack of support 
for mental health issues and lengthy 
waits for referrals.

Read more about our  
engagement with local people at 
healthierlsc.co.uk/GetInvolved 
We value this feedback and have used  
it to shape this strategy and how we 
will deliver partnership working across 
Lancashire and South Cumbria. We are 
committed to continue to involve people 
and put them at the centre of everything 
we do as a partnership.

To get involved and find out what  
is happening in your local area, visit 
healthierlsc.co.uk/Local

Inclusivity

Understanding

Support

17Involving local people

P
age 63

http://www.healthierlsc.co.uk/GetInvolved
http://healthierlsc.co.uk/Local
http://healthierlsc.co.uk/Local


Examples of how we 
are already successfully 

working in partnership are 
available on pages 32 to 35

January 2020February 2018 November 2016 May 2019

Integrating health and care
This document builds upon the 
foundations of partnership working  
which have been developing over the  
past four years.

We have listened to local people and 
worked together with colleagues across 
the health and care sector to develop a 
five-year strategy to deliver the aims of 
the Long Term Plan and to address the 
most urgent needs of the 1.8million people 
living in Lancashire and South Cumbria.

Our journey towards partnership working 

The NHS Long Term Plan, published in January 2019, set out an 
ambitious programme of service improvement for health and care  
in England. It describes how Integrated Care Systems will work in 
new, more coordinated ways to:
•  Join up health and 

care for local people – 
especially those with 
multiple and long term 
conditions

•  Be proactive about 
prevention – stopping 
people getting ill in the  
first place

•  Make the very best use of  
the whole health and care 
resource across an area

Formally recognised as Lancashire 
and South Cumbria Integrated Care 
System, demonstrating the growing 

maturity of our partnership

Five year strategy  
for improving health 
and care published 

The futureThe future

Strategy

Sustainability and 
Transformation Plans 
set out opportunities  

for partnership working

Lancashire and South 
Cumbria partnership 

announced as one of 14 
of the very first Integrated 

Care System areas

18 Integrating health and care  How we will deliver our strategy

P
age 64



Delivering safe  
and sustainable,  

high quality  
services

Delivering better, 
joined-up care,  
closer to home

Improving the health 
and wellbeing of local 

communities

How we will 
deliver our 
strategy

19Integrating health and care  How we will deliver our strategy

P
age 65



Improving the health 
and wellbeing of local 
communities 
We will take action to improve 
the underlying issues that impact 
health, healthy behaviours, the 
lifestyle choices we make and 
the places and neighbourhoods 
we live in. We will deliver care 
tailored to meet the needs of 
individuals.
Five key priorities will be our focus to 
improve the health of the population and 
to reduce health inequalities.

Giving the best start in life
National evidence tells us that development 
begins before birth and that the health  
of a baby is crucially affected at this early 
stage. We need to make changes to policies 
to eradicate health inequalities and make 
sure children and families receive support 
in the first 1,000 days after birth. 

To do this, we will:

•  Focus on reducing infant mortality

•  Close the gap in communication skills 
between disadvantaged children and 
their classmates when they start school

•  Address child poverty and its impact  
on the health and wellbeing of  
children and families

•  Develop plans to get every child ready  
to learn at the age of three.

Healthy behaviours
Tobacco use, obesity, alcohol consumption 
and inactivity are issues which can result 
in disability and early death and directly 
affect physical and mental health.

We will work with communities to:

•  Deliver our ambition to become  
smoke free in our premises across 
Lancashire and South Cumbria

•  Reduce childhood obesity, learning from 
partnership work in Pennine Lancashire 
and spreading the learning to support 
local residents to have a healthy weight 
throughout their lives 

•  Improve oral health in all age groups

•  Put in place alcohol care teams where 
they are needed

•  Support the voluntary, community, faith 
and social enterprise sector (VCFSE) 
and wider partners to strengthen and 
expand the social prescribing offer 
available in communities. 

20 How we will deliver our strategy How we will deliver our strategy

P
age 66



Zero suicides
We have an ambitious goal of working 
towards having zero suicides in Lancashire 
and South Cumbria. The impact of suicide 
is far-reaching and remains with family, 
friends, colleagues and many others long 
after the individual has gone. 

The bereavement is often detrimental  
to personal relationships, behaviour, 
wellbeing and work. 

To achieve our ambitious goal, we will:

•  Put policies and services in place to 
improve mental wellbeing, identify 
people at risk of suicide and better 
support families with specialist 
bereavement services

•  Use real-time intelligence from the 
police, local authorities and NHS  
to support the partnership in taking  
action in the right areas to reduce 
suicides to zero 
over a number 
of years.

Neighbourhood development
People should be able to live, work 
and prosper in their neighbourhoods. 
Understanding what matters to people 
where they live and by working with 
them on the challenges they face can 
help find creative solutions to seemingly 
insurmountable problems. 

Neighbourhoods are where people spend 
most of their time. We will work with local 
communities to co-create solutions through 
local partnerships where people live. In 
these areas, people will be supported to 
manage their own health and wellbeing 
and receive social support by integrating 
health and care services with local 
authorities and 
other voluntary and 
community groups.

To achieve this all 
41 of the primary 
care networks will be 
supported to deliver 
care centred around 
the person and 
detect and diagnose 
conditions such as 
diabetes, cancer and 
heart disease early.

Work and health
Having a healthy and capable working 
age population has major positive benefits 
for local people, organisations, the local 
economy and wider society.

This means it is important to support 
people to achieve their potential in life 
by enabling them to work, maintain 
financial independence and security for 
themselves and their families, especially 
as they age. This includes people with long 
term conditions and disabilities, a large 
number of whom, want to work and live 
independent lives. 

To achieve this, the partnership is already 
working with local economic partnerships, 
wider public sector leaders and universities 
to create opportunities through the 
development of a local 
industrial strategy and sharing 
good employment practices 
between large organisations in 
Lancashire and South Cumbria. 

We will support our current and 
future workforce to have the 
best possible health, and in turn 
improve the local economy.

21How we will deliver our strategy

P
age 67



Delivering better, joined-up 
care, closer to home
Our neighbourhood approach aims 
to deliver better care planning and 
outcomes for local people. This builds 
upon positive local and national 
examples where GPs, community nurses, 
therapists, social workers, voluntary, 
community, faith and social enterprise 
sector partners and the communities 
themselves have worked together  
more closely.

This approach to working in neighbourhoods allows 
partners to make use of a multidisciplinary workforce 
and offer opportunities to create a sustainable future 
for primary and community services, which have 
been under significant pressure in recent years.

We want to use neighbourhood working to continue 
learning about how best to engage with local 
people about their health and wellbeing, using the 
assets of each community to do so. The aim is to 
make this approach one of the most recognisable 
characteristics of the partnership in Lancashire and 
South Cumbria.

We are supporting the development of the  
41 primary care networks at the heart of 
wider public and voluntary sector integrated 
neighbourhoods.

22 How we will deliver our strategy How we will deliver our strategy

P
age 68



Primary care networks are a vital 
component of the neighbourhood  
model, with ambitions to:
•  Stabilise general practice

•  Help solve the capacity gap and  
improve the skills mix by growing  
the wider workforce

•  Invest in our local communities

•  Be the connection point between 
primary and community care

•  Deliver new service improvements 
and achieve clear, positive, quantified 
impacts that benefit people.

The five local health and care 
partnerships are where:
•  Local authorities can take an active,  

lead role in system redesign

•  System redesign can be built on 
community approaches

•  Integration between health and care 
and other sectors can be best delivered

•  Political engagement and democratic 
input can be undertaken most 
effectively

•  Partners can determine how they can 
best work together to achieve outcome 
improvement and system change.

You can find out more about the work  
of our five local partnerships at:  
healthierlsc.co.uk/Local

Each local health and care 
partnership is developing an 
integrated model of:
•  Primary and community services

•  Physical and mental health services

•  Integration of health and social care 
services.

Where things are best undertaken once, 
we will do them in partnership across 
Lancashire and South Cumbria.

23How we will deliver our strategy How we will deliver our strategy

P
age 69

http://healthierlsc.co.uk/Local


Delivering safe and 
sustainable, high  
quality services
It is clear that the way local NHS 
hospital services are delivered is both 
clinically and financially unsustainable. 
Across the four providers of acute 
services, there is significant variation 
in the quality, access and outcomes of 
services received by people living  
in Lancashire and South Cumbria.  
System leaders recognise that  
variation exists and that plans  
are now needed to address this. 

Clinical leaders will be supported to work beyond the 
boundaries of their organisations to set out what 
the future of service delivery will look like and work 
together to influence how services will be delivered 
over the next four years and beyond.

Integrated Care System partners are working 
together to overcome these challenges through  
three key programmes:

1.  Increased collaboration between providers
2.  Efficient and sustainable service delivery
3. Integrated pathways.

24 How we will deliver our strategy How we will deliver our strategy

P
age 70



1.  Increased collaboration  
across providers

We will explore the benefits of our 
hospitals and community services working 
together as a Provider Collaborative and 
describe what this will mean for local 
people and staff. This will be to enable 
services to deliver the highest quality, 
safe and sustainable care to people in 
Lancashire and South Cumbria.

To achieve this, the four NHS trusts 
providing acute services will increasingly 
work more closely together, transforming 
the ways in which some more specialised 
services and patient pathways are 
organised. This could involve changes to 
current models of care, locations of care, 
or the number of hospitals which provide 
care. Local communities and stakeholders 
will be involved in shaping these models 
of care and, where appropriate, further 
engagement and formal consultation will 
take place.

Examples of early work are redesigning 
how services are delivered for head 
and neck, cancer, and vascular services, 
paediatrics and diagnostics.

2.  Efficient and sustainable  
service delivery

In line with the expectations of the  
NHS Long Term Plan and more local 
analysis of unwarranted variation and 
efficiency opportunities, partners have 
identified a range of potential schemes 
to improve the clinical and financial 
sustainability of services. It is recognised 
that these opportunities can only be 
realised with the leadership and support 
of clinical and other professional leaders 
working together across the system.

The following areas will be prioritised 
as they demonstrate the greatest 
opportunities for improving efficiency:

• Outpatient appointments

• Musculoskeletal (MSK) services

• Theatre efficiency

• Back office functions

• Management of medicines

• Interventions of limited clinical value

• Innovation and quality.

3. Integrated pathways
The NHS Long Term Plan identifies 
integrated pathways across a number 
of services that are intended to enhance 
clinical outcomes for local people. As well 
as working towards the implementation 
of these pathways, ICS partners have 
identified a number of local priority 
pathways for redesign across Lancashire 
and South Cumbria.

Our priority pathways for  
improvement are:

•  Mental health – adults and children  
and young people

•  Learning disabilities and autism

•  Urgent and emergency care

• Cancer 

• Stroke services

• Planned care

•  Maternity 
services.

25How we will deliver our strategy How we will deliver our strategy

P
age 71



Urgent and emergency care
We are committed to providing highly 
responsive services for adults and children 
with urgent care needs, which deliver care 
as close to home as possible and are high 
quality, safe and sustainable.

This will be achieved by:

•  Using the same approach across 
partners to collecting and using 
intelligence about how services are 
working 

•  Improving how ICS partners and the 
ambulance service share information

•  Improving patient safety and experience 
due to quicker response 
times

•  Using resources and 
teams appropriately, so 
that paramedic crews 
are able to respond 
to life threatening 
emergencies.

Cancer
We aim to improve early diagnosis for 
patients with cancer, offering greater 
opportunities to make personal decisions 
about cancer treatment. 

We are taking forward bold actions to 
improve lung cancer screening, introduce 
rapid diagnostic centres and increase our 
workforce.

Stroke services
We plan to improve stroke services  
– right across the pathway from prevention 
through to rehabilitation. Our aim is to 
reduce the number of people having a 
stroke in our population, 
but for those who do, we 
need to reduce variation  
in the outcomes of the 
care that we provide.

We will work in partnership 
with care professionals, 
public health and wider 
partners such as the 
Stroke Association, and 
local people to reduce the 
likelihood of experiencing 
a stroke. 

Mental health – adults and 
children and young people
Working with communities to improve the 
mental health, resilience and wellbeing of 
people in Lancashire and South Cumbria is 
one of our partnership priorities. 

Our ambition is that mental health 
and wellbeing is considered of equal 
importance to physical health in all of our 
communities. When local people require 
more support, they should be able to access 
an effective range of age-appropriate 
mental health services. At present, there is 
variation in access, provision and clinical 
outcomes.

26 How we will deliver our strategy How we will deliver our strategy

P
age 72



Learning disabilities and autism
We will redesign and deliver effective, 
streamlined community services and 
develop specialist assessment and 
treatment beds, community admission 
avoidance placements and alternatives to 
hospital admission for people with learning 
disabilities and/or autism.

The partnership will:

•  Ensure the safe and effective discharge 
of people who do not require the use of 
inpatient services

•  Ensure that the right number of beds are 
delivered in the right places, meeting the 
needs of individuals

•  Ensure that public sector resources are 
being used effectively to support people 
with a learning disability or autism 

•  Ensure that action is taken to  
reduce health inequalities.

Planned care
We have reviewed how all our hospital 
operating theatres are used to improve 
efficiency and reduce waiting times 
for patients. Across the ten specialties 
with the highest volume of activity, we 
have identified an opportunity for an 
additional 18,000 theatre hours per year, 
but recognise that there are significant 
challenges in achieving all of this.

We will enable earlier and more accurate 
diagnosis to make sure we get patients 
on the right planned pathway first time. 
To do this, we will work in partnership to 
deliver improved diagnostic services, which 
use tests and evaluations to help detect, 
diagnose and 
treat diseases, 
injuries and 
other physical 
conditions.

Maternity services
We aim to better deliver consistent care 
for families. As a partnership, we are 
committed to removing boundaries, 
improving choice, safety and experience 
of maternity services and improving 
outcomes.

This will result in:

•  Reduced number of stillbirths and 
neonatal deaths

•  Reduced number of brain injuries 
between labour and delivery of  
the placenta

•  Personalised care records

•  Most people receiving continuity of carer 
during pregnancy, birth and postnatally

•  Reduced number of newborn babies 
separated from their parents

•  Reduction in people smoking during 
pregnancy and at the time of delivery

•  Improved support and education  
around infant feeding.

27How we will deliver our strategy How we will deliver our strategy

P
age 73



Making this happen
Creating a great place  
to work and develop
•  We are committed to developing 

employment opportunities for local 
communities within health and  
care services

•  We will develop the volunteer workforce, 
which includes partnership working with 
the voluntary, community, faith and 
social enterprise sector

•  We will recruit new members of staff 
– we want to attract new staff to the 
region

•  We will improve the experience of staff 
currently working within the partnership

•  We will develop new roles and skills and 
use technology to better support staff

•  We will create stable and sustainable 
clinical and frontline teams working 
across more than one trust/site in order 
to ensure that there are sufficient staff 
to deliver quality and safety for patients.

Using technology
We will mobilise our workforce to harness 
the technology revolution and bring about 
a radical transformation, that will:

•  Empower people to be more active in 
managing their health and wellbeing

•  Enable more patients to self-care and 
live independently for longer

•  Pinpoint, predict and prevent disease 
through better use of data

•  Increase the amount of time  
for care on the frontline

•  Create a flexible  
working environment  
that helps retain the  
workforce

•  Improve  
operational  
efficiency across  
back office services.

This strategy will be  
enabled by our plans to:

Make the most of public  
sector investment 

Inform, involve and engage  
local people, staff, partners  
and stakeholders

Create a great place  
to work and develop

Use technology and innovation  
to deliver great care

28 Making this happen Making this happen

P
age 74



Innovating to deliver great care
•  The partnership will contribute to the 

development of the Lancashire and 
South Cumbria economy, promoting a 
wide range of benefits to the population 
from this approach to collaboration, 
mutual learning and investment in new 
ideas. This allows us to respond locally 
to the global impacts of technological, 
social, scientific and environmental 
changes.

•  The partnership will establish  
a public service enterprise and 
innovation alliance, bringing 
together the health and  
care sector across  
Lancashire and South  
Cumbria with  
universities  
and economic  
development  
partners.

Making the most of public  
sector investment
We will significantly change the way 
organisations invest in, provide and 
manage the whole health and care system 
including GPs, A&Es, specialist centres, 
hospitals and care services.

To achieve this, we will:

•  Develop a more radical approach 
to planning and making changes to 
services across providers. This needs 
to result in much faster change than 
partners have been able to do in  
the past

•  Increase our collective ability to 
achieve efficiencies and services 
changes. We need a higher level of 
ambition, peer support and challenge, 
leadership and the application of the 
right techniques

•  Ensure we are quick to adopt best 
practice across the whole system

•  Make the most of new ideas and 
opportunities, which lead to faster 
change and improve the efficiency  
of our services. 

Inform, involve and engage  
local people, staff, partners  
and stakeholders
We will involve people when designing  
how we deliver services and work together 
to improve people’s experience of health 
and care locally.

29Making this happen Making this happen

P
age 75



What this means for communities and our staff
In five years’ time… 
Local people will be:
•  More active in managing their health  

and wellbeing and decisions they make  
that affect them

•  Supported to improve their long-term  
health and wellbeing

•  Living well before they die, in the place  
of their choice in peace and dignity

•  Using technology to manage their health

•  More involved in 
decision making in  
their area

•  Making best use of local 
housing and leisure 
services by connecting 
with integrated community 
teams

•  Living in dynamic, empowered communities 
where people can live, work and thrive

•  Benefiting from more coordinated and  
joined-up care

•  Receiving care from hospitals, which provide 
networks of services, with sustainable staffing 
levels and consistent pathways

•  Supported to live longer, healthier lives with 
earlier diagnosis of conditions and advice  
on prevention.

30 What this means for communities and our staff  What this means for communities and our staff

P
age 76



Staff will be:
•  Happier, healthier and more resilient

•  Provided with a wider range of roles and support 
to develop new skills and capabilities

•  Working in integrated community teams, 
delivering targeted and coordinated physical and 
mental health care to their local neighbourhoods

•  Better able to support people they care  
for, through greater access to data shared  
by partners

•  Attracted into working and  
living in Lancashire  
and South Cumbria.

Partners will be:
•  Able to demonstrate how public sector 

organisations have supported economic 
development and innovation, resulting in 
employing local people into new and different 
jobs in health and care

•  Able to demonstrate that they are getting the 
best value health and care

•  Confident in the evidence of improving life 
expectancy and reducing inequalities in the most 
deprived neighbourhoods through our approach 
to population health

•  Able to demonstrate how 
health and wellbeing has been 
considered in public policies such 
as education, housing, economic 
development, transport and retail.

31What this means for communities and our staff  What this means for communities and our staff

P
age 77



Lancashire and South Cumbria 
Integrated Care System is seen  
as a maturing partnership. 

There is much that has already been 
achieved, which health and care 
system partners are proud of.

The impact of working in partnership
Early detection and prevention
•  £7.6million funding from NHS England and NHS Improvement 

(NHSE/I) will help to diagnose lung cancer earlier in Blackpool and 
Blackburn with Darwen. Lung health checks will begin in early 2020, 
targeting smokers or ex-smokers between 55 and 74 years of age. In 
addition, £9million is being invested in early diagnosis of other  
types of cancer.

•  Partners are working with the British Heart Foundation to deliver 12,000 
blood pressure tests in local communities by 2021 with football 
clubs, leisure centres and pharmacies so that people know their numbers 
and what they mean. This is identifying individuals much earlier who are 
at risk of a heart attack, kidney disease and stroke.

•  A partnership approach to reduce suicides has seen the development 
of a dashboard of live intelligence on suspected suicides. The insight 
is helping to identify trends, which is being used to deliver a campaign 
to reduce suicides by encouraging people to talk, create stigma free 
working environments where people can seek help and reach out to 
colleagues and to provide support for those bereaved by suicide.

Developing partnerships with the voluntary, community,  
faith and social enterprise (VCFSE) sector
•  The VCFSE sector, local authorities and NHS in Lancashire and South 

Cumbria have worked together to develop better relationships. This has 
seen consistent models of VCFSE engagement within and across all 
local health and care partnerships and the development of a VCFSE 
leadership group across Lancashire and South Cumbria.

32 The impact of working in partnership The impact of working in partnership

P
age 78



Supporting thriving local communities
Leading the way nationally in developing a population health 
management approach resulted in five neighbourhoods 
tackling issues in their communities:

•  In Blackpool, people living in houses of multiple occupancy 
have been provided help related to issues with where they live 
and empowered to become more actively engaged in managing  
their own health and wellbeing.

•  In Skelmersdale, people with respiratory conditions often have 
other health conditions such as diabetes or depression and 
anxiety. More personalised care has been provided to a group 
of patients by looking at the whole person rather than just one 
condition at a time, as well as developing group consultations 
to provide peer support.

•  In Chorley, it was identified that residents known  
to the GP surgeries as living with frailty also needed help to 
have their bins collected. People have been connected with link 
workers who visited and interviewed them in their own homes 
to provide support for their mental health, physical and social 
needs in one assessment. This has resulted in connecting people 
with local groups to help combat loneliness or obtain support 
and tips for healthy eating.

•  In Barrow and Millom, people most at risk of serious mental 
health conditions have been supported by improving the 
consistency and quality of the Severe Mental Illness (SMI) 
checks they receive.

•  In Burnley, a group of people aged 50 and over living with 
frailty have benefited from their neighbourhood team using a 
peer-to-peer model of support. This has helped individuals to 
meet people with a similar condition and learn from each other 
how best to manage and self-care as well as getting the best 
from services.

•  In Fleetwood, partners have joined initiatives together,  
which have contributed to a significant reduction in the  
number of residents attending Blackpool’s A&E, down 11.5%  
in a year. There has also been a reduction of 9.4% in the 
number of people being admitted to hospital in an emergency. 
The primary care network has received multiple awards.

20

33The impact of working in partnership The impact of working in partnership

P
age 79



Strengthening the health and care workforce
•  A programme called EPIC has been established to share and 

adopt best practice; celebrate the achievements of staff; and 
connect individuals and teams across the partners of Lancashire 
and South Cumbria Integrated Care System. More than 500 
staff and volunteers from health, social care, public sector 
and community organisations have participated in the first 
two events in 2019. EPIC stands for Engaging communities, 
Promoting partnerships, Innovation for improvement and 
Collaborating to develop services.

•  We are continuing to recruit qualified nurses through the 
Health Education England Global 
Learners Programme into the 
Provider Trusts across Lancashire 
and South Cumbria. We are 
now seeing the arrival of these 
overseas nurses into the UK, with 
the majority gaining their Nursing 
and Midwifery Council registration 
to practice within two to three 
months of arrival. Feedback from 
the nurses who have arrived in the 
last 12 months is very positive, 
indicating that they have been very 
well supported in terms of both the 
pastoral and educational elements. 
We hope that many will choose to 
remain in their posts in the UK in 
the longer-term.

Joining up health and social care services
•  78% of our care homes are actively using a tool that allows 

bed vacancies to be tracked. This is helping to reduce avoidable 
and unnecessary lengthy stays in hospital.

•  A Lancashire-wide joined-up response and falls lifting 
service has been launched. This is designed to divert calls from 
ambulance services in cases where older and vulnerable people 
have fallen within their own home (this includes care/nursing 
homes and extra care sheltered housing). The service has teams 
based in every locality and is averaging a response time of 
around 30 minutes, comparing favourably to what was often a 
four hour plus wait.

•  Partnership work across maternity 
services has resulted in 29.2% of 
people being booked onto pathways, 
which can offer continuity of carer, 
exceeding the national target of 20%.

34 The impact of working in partnership The impact of working in partnership

P
age 80



Innovations in digital health
•  Almost 500,000 people across Lancashire and 

South Cumbria have downloaded an app that 
helps them connect with their GP surgery. More 
than one million local people have been enabled  
to use online consultation. Patients are now able 
to contact their practice online to ask about a new or 
ongoing problem and get advice or an appointment 
if needed. More than four fifths of all GP practices 
across Lancashire and South Cumbria are now 
offering online consultations.

•  A shared care record is now fully operational 
across Lancashire and South Cumbria, supporting 
clinical staff to deliver care to patients. Thousands 
of clinicians use it routinely to ensure continuity and 
consistent care for the people they treat. There are 
currently more than 2.5million care documents 
available to view, with more than 100,000 new 
documents published every month. This means 
that patients do not have to repeat information to 
different care teams and more joined-up care can be 
provided thanks to easier access to an individual’s 
medical history.

35The impact of working in partnership The impact of working in partnership

P
age 81



Thank you
We would like to say a huge thank you to all the 
local people, staff and partners who have been 
involved in developing this strategy and our plans 
for the next five years.

We are also grateful to our universities, voluntary, 
community, faith and social enterprise sector, 
police and local Healthwatch who have all actively 
contributed to this strategy for the partnership. 

Our next steps
We will continue to work together across health and care  
to develop and deliver these priorities in partnership.

This version of our strategy is a draft because we would like  
to get further feedback from local people and stakeholders. 

To find out how to share your comments, please visit: 

healthierlsc.co.uk/Strategy

Get involved
 In your local area: healthierlsc.co.uk/Local

Visit our website: healthierlsc.co.uk

 Join in the conversation on Twitter: /HealthierLSC

Like us on Facebook:   /HealthierLSC

Email us at: healthier.lsc@nhs.net

36 Thank you and next steps  Our partners

P
age 82

http://healthierlsc.co.uk/Strategy
http://healthierlsc.co.uk/Local
https://healthierlsc.co.uk
https://www.twitter.com/HealthierLSC
https://www.facebook.com/HealthierLSC


Lancashire and South Cumbria Integrated 
Care System is a partnership of the following 
organisations: 

NHS organisations
•  NHS Blackpool CCG

•  NHS Blackburn  
with Darwen CCG

•  NHS Chorley and  
South Ribble CCG

•  NHS East Lancashire CCG

•  NHS Fylde and Wyre CCG

•  NHS Greater Preston CCG

•  NHS Morecambe Bay CCG

•  NHS West Lancashire CCG

•  NHS Midlands and Lancashire 
Commissioning Support Unit

•  Blackpool Teaching Hospitals 
NHS Foundation Trust

•  East Lancashire Hospitals  
NHS Trust

•  Lancashire and South Cumbria 
NHS Foundation Trust

•  Lancashire Teaching Hospitals 
NHS Foundation Trust

•  University Hospitals of 
Morecambe Bay NHS 
Foundation Trust

•  North West Ambulance  
Service NHS Trust

•  NHS North West Regional 
Specialised Commissioning 
Team

•  The Innovation Agency, the 
Academic Health Science 
Network (AHSN) for the North 
West Coast

Local authorities
Upper tier/unitary councils 

• Lancashire County Council

•  Blackburn with Darwen 
Borough Council

• Blackpool Council

• Cumbria County Council

District councils 

•  Preston City Council  
(Central Lancashire ICP)

•  Chorley Council  
(Central Lancashire ICP)

•  South Ribble Borough Council 
(Central Lancashire ICP)

•  Fylde Council  
(Fylde Coast ICP)

•  Wyre Council  
(Fylde Coast ICP)

•  West Lancashire Borough 
Council (West Lancashire MCP)

•  Barrow-in-Furness Borough 
Council (Morecambe Bay ICP)

•  Lancaster City Council 
(Morecambe Bay ICP)

•  South Lakeland District Council 
(Morecambe Bay ICP)

•  Burnley Borough Council  
(Pennine Lancashire ICP)

•  Hyndburn Borough Council  
(Pennine Lancashire ICP)

•  Pendle Borough Council  
(Pennine Lancashire ICP)

•  Ribble Valley Borough Council  
(Pennine Lancashire ICP)

•  Rossendale Borough Council  
(Pennine Lancashire ICP)

Voluntary, Community, 
Faith and Social 
Enterprise (VCFSE) 

The ICS has established strong 
partnerships with the VCFSE 
sector. A Voluntary Sector 
Partnership Alliance has been 
formed by the sector comprising 
chairs of VCFSE networks in each 
of the five local health and care 
partnerships.

Our partners

37Thank you and next steps  Our partners

P
age 83



Accessibility
If you would like this document in an alternative format,  

please email us at healthier.lsc@nhs.net

Glossary
For definitions of health and care words and phrases used  
in this document, please visit healthierlsc.co.uk/glossary

P
age 84

http://www.blackpool.gov.uk
https://www.lancashire.gov.uk
https://www.blackburn.gov.uk
https://www.nhs.uk
https://www.healthierlsc.co.uk/about/glossary
http://www.cumbria.gov.uk/


Report to: ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND HEALTH SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

Relevant Officer: Mrs Sharon Davis, Scrutiny Manager 

Date of Meeting: 6 February 2020 

 

HEALTHY WEIGHT SCRUTINY REVIEW FINAL REPORT 
 

1.0  
 

Purpose of the report: 
 

1.1  
 

To approve the final report of the Healthy Weight Scrutiny Review and submit it to the 
Executive for consideration. 
 

2.0  Recommendation(s): 
 

2.1  
 

To approve the final report. 

3.0  Reasons for recommendation(s): 
 

3.1  
 

To allow the report to progress through the procedure agreed for scrutiny reviews. 
 

3.2  Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or approved by 
the Council? 
 

No 

3.3  Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved budget? 
 

Yes 

4.0  Other alternative options to be considered: 
 

4.1  None. 
 

5.0  Council priority: 
 

5.1  The relevant Council priority is: 

 Communities: Creating stronger communities and increasing resilience. 
 

6.0  Background information 
 

6.1 
 
 
 
 

At the Adult Social Care and Health Scrutiny Committee in February 2019, Members 

considered an update on Healthy Weight. At that meeting, it was agreed that due to 

the significant level of work ongoing around healthy weight and the importance of the 

topic in Blackpool, that an in depth scrutiny review be carried out. 

Page 85

Agenda Item 8



6.2 
 
 

 
6.3 
 
 
 
 

A large amount of preparatory work was undertaken for the meeting and an in depth 

report provided containing the range of work undertaken to date and the initiatives in 

place to address obesity and unhealthy lifestyles. 

 

Consideration was given to the range of contributors required for the review from 

NHS representatives, Public Health, Leisure Services, Community Groups to service 

users themselves. In order to gather input the valuable input from service users, a 

number of testimonials were sought from clients of various programmes. 

6.4 
 
 
 
6.5 

The review was carried out in an in a day approach and one meeting was held to 
consider Healthy Weight. The list of attendees in attendance is included within the 
final report, at Section 3.0 Methodology. 
 
The recommendations of the review are contained within the report, Members are 
requested to approve the report and its recommendations for forwarding to the 
Executive and relevant NHS organisations. 

  
 Does the information submitted include any exempt information? 

 
No 

7.0  List of Appendices: 
 

 

7.1  Appendix 8(a): Healthy Weight Scrutiny Review Final Report 

 
8.0  Legal considerations: 

 
8.1  As set out within the final report. 

 
9.0  Human resources considerations: 

 
9.1  None. 

 
10.0  Equalities considerations: 

 
10.1  None. 

 
11.0  Financial considerations: 

 
11.1  As set out within the final report. 

 
12.0  Risk management considerations: 

 
12.1  None. 

 

Page 86



13.0  Ethical considerations: 
 

13.1  None. 
 

14.0  Internal/external consultation undertaken: 
 

14.1  As detailed within the final report. 
 

15.0  Background papers: 
 

15.1  None. 
 
  

 

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



Blackpool Council 
Overview and Scrutiny - Improving Services for the Community 

 

 

 

Healthy Weight       Page 1 of 19                                                                                           
FINAL REPORT  

Appendix 8(a)  

 

 

 

 

 

HEALTHY WEIGHT SCRUTINY REVIEW  

FINAL REPORT  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 89



Blackpool Council 
Overview and Scrutiny - Improving Services for the Community 

 

 

 

Healthy Weight       Page 2 of 19                                                                                           
FINAL REPORT  

CONTENTS               PAGE 
 

 

1.0 Foreword by Chairman      3 

 

 

2.0 Background Information      4 

 

 

3.0 Methodology       5  

          

 

4.0 Detailed Findings and Recommendations   6 

 

 

5.0 Summary of Recommendations    16 

 

 

6.0 Financial and Legal Considerations    18       

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 90



Blackpool Council 
Overview and Scrutiny - Improving Services for the Community 

 

 

 

Healthy Weight       Page 3 of 19                                                                                           
FINAL REPORT  

1.0 Foreword  
 

1.1 Healthy Weight is a massive issue in Blackpool and is something I have a real interest in 

personally. When we received an item to Committee early in 2019 looking at the impact 

of weight on health, lifestyle and public services, the scale of the problem was apparent 

and the Committee felt it necessary to explore the issues in much more detail and set up 

this review to do just that. 

 

1.2 I would like to thank my fellow Members for taking part in this review, the importance of 

Member engagement and enthusiasm in scrutiny reviews is paramount and without that 

we would not have been able to come to the conclusions and recommendations that we 

have done. Recommendations that I hope will make a real difference to residents when 

implemented. 

 

1.3 I would also like to thank all those in attendance who contributed to the evidence 

presented to Members and answered our questions at the Panel meeting, your 

contribution was vital to Members’ understanding of the key issues presented and 

allowing us to come to those conclusions and recommendations. 

 

Councillor Hobson 

Chairman, Adult Social Care and Health Scrutiny Committee 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 91



Blackpool Council 
Overview and Scrutiny - Improving Services for the Community 

 

 

 

Healthy Weight       Page 4 of 19                                                                                           
FINAL REPORT  

2.0 Background Information 
 

2.1 At the Adult Social Care and Health Scrutiny Committee in February 2019, Members 

considered an update on Healthy Weight. At that meeting, it was agreed that due to the 

significant level of work ongoing around healthy weight and the importance of the topic 

in Blackpool, that an in depth scrutiny review be carried out. 

 

2.2 A large amount of preparatory work was undertaken for the meeting and an in depth 

report provided containing the range of work undertaken to date and the initiatives in 

place to address obesity and unhealthy lifestyles. 

 

2.3 Consideration was given to the range of contributors required for the review from NHS 

representatives, Public Health, Leisure Services, Community Groups to service users 

themselves. In order to gather input the valuable input from service users, a number of 

testimonials were sought from clients of various programmes. 

 

2.4 This review relates to the following priority of the Council: 

  

Communities: Creating stronger communities and increasing resilience. 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 92



Blackpool Council 
Overview and Scrutiny - Improving Services for the Community 

 

 

 

Healthy Weight       Page 5 of 19                                                                                           
FINAL REPORT  

3.0 Methodology 
 

3.1 The Review Panel used an in a day approach to scrutiny and held one meeting to consider 

Healthy Weight, as follows: 

 

 

Date 

 

 

Attendees 

 

Purpose 

 

19 November 

2019 

Councillors Hobson (in the Chair), Hunter, Hutton, 

O’Hara, Mrs Scott and Wing. 

 

Councillor Lynn Williams, Cabinet Member for Adult 

Social Care and Health. 

 

Dr Arif Rajpura, Director of Public Health 

Ms Nicky Dennison, Consultant in Public Health 

Ms Lisa Arnold, Head of Parks, Leisure and Catering 

Services 

Ms Laura Ivinson, Sports Development Manager 

Ms Vicky Hepworth-Putt, Specialist Registrar, Public 

Health 

 

Ms Berenice Groves, Interim Executive Director Of 

Operations, Blackpool Teaching Hospital NHS 

Foundation Trust 

 

Mr Jason White, Head of Community Programmes 
Blackpool FC Community Trust 
Mr Marc Joseph, Head of Early Years and Primary 
Provision, Blackpool FC Community Trust 
 

Ms Rosie Newton, Health Officer, Blackpool FC 

Community Trust 

 

Mrs Sharon Davis, Scrutiny Manager 

To receive 

information 

relating to Healthy 

Weight.  

 

To identify 

conclusions and 

recommendations. 

Page 93



Blackpool Council 
Overview and Scrutiny - Improving Services for the Community 

 

 

 

Healthy Weight       Page 6 of 19                                                                                           
FINAL REPORT  

4.0 Detailed Findings and Recommendation 
 

4.1 Context of the Review 

 

4.1.1 Obesity is one of the most serious public health challenges in England and has been 

recognised as a complex problem with multiple causes and inequalities. Obesity is one of 

the leading causes of ill health in England and has an impact on people’s lives across the 

life course in relation to quality of life, the risk of developing chronic diseases such as 

Type-2 diabetes and links to mental health disorders. 

 

4.1.2 The Government has stated that its ambition is to halve childhood obesity by 2030 in 

England. Many children who are obese or overweight suffer physical issues including 

Type-2 diabetes, asthma, musculoskeletal pain and can also experience mental health 

problems. These affect the quality of children’s lives, their education and their life 

chances. In later life it can reduce their productivity, earnings and shorten life expectancy 

by approximately nine years in comparison to those of a healthy weight1. Obesity 

disproportionately affects children living in deprived areas and some ethnic minority 

groups. 

 

4.1.3 In Blackpool, in 2017/2018 it was reported that 66.5% of adults2 were overweight or 

obese. This is similar to the national average of 62%. In relation to children, the 

2018/2019 National Child Measurement Programme reported that 28.6% of reception 

children were overweight or obese, in comparison to the national average of 22.6%. This 

is an increase from 27.1% on the previous year. In relation to Year 6 children, 38.6% were 

reported as overweight or obese in comparison to the national average of 34.2%, an 

increase on the previous year of 37.8%. 

 

  

                                                
1 www.blackpooljsna.org.uk/Living-and-Working-Well/Healthy-Lifestyles/Adult-obesity.aspx  
  
2 Figure based on BMI recorded at GP surgery 

Page 94

http://www.blackpooljsna.org.uk/Living-and-Working-Well/Healthy-Lifestyles/Adult-obesity.aspx


Blackpool Council 
Overview and Scrutiny - Improving Services for the Community 

 

 

 

Healthy Weight       Page 7 of 19                                                                                           
FINAL REPORT  

4.1.4 Local authorities have a key role to play in promoting healthy lifestyles, working with 

partners and stakeholders to directly influence the health of the population. In January 

2016, Blackpool Council made a commitment to promote healthy weight and improve 

the health and wellbeing of the local population by signing a Local Declaration on Healthy 

Weight. The aim of the declaration is for the Council to demonstrate a commitment to 

reduce unhealthy weight in the community, protect the health and wellbeing of staff and 

the local population and to make an economic impact on health and social care in the 

local economy. 

 

4.1.5 There are also a number of local strategies with an aim of addressing unhealthy lifestyles: 

 

Healthy Weight Strategy 2015, providing direction on the appropriate actions to be 

taken to help the population achieve a healthy weight. 

 

Active Lives Strategy, a new strategy to be produced to replace the Sport and Physical 

Activity Strategy 2013 to cover a wider remit looking at Active Lives in its broadest sense. 

 

Green and Blue Infrastructure Strategy, a ten year strategy adopted in 2018 focussed on 

enhancing existing green spaces and delivering new spaces. One of the strategic aims in 

the Strategy being ‘engaging people in health and wellbeing’. 

4.1.6 The Panel was informed that work had been undertaken with stakeholders taking a 

whole system approach to consider the causal factors of obesity in Blackpool, identify 

interventions and action already undertaken and a gap analysis of what still needs to be 

done. The next stage in the work will be to action plan what work is still required. 

 

4.1.7 Members considered that the Council must be a leader in healthy lifestyles, supporting 

its staff to eat and live healthily, and considering the health and wellbeing needs of 

residents in all decisions taken. To fully lead and set an example for staff, residents and 

other employers, the Council must ensure that healthy lifestyles and weight are a 

consideration in all aspects of service provision, however small, such as the rewards on 

offer to young people for attendance at school from the Pupil Welfare Service (previously 

a reward of sweets had been given), the request made to staff to contribute items to the 

Care Leavers’ Christmas Hampers (other than socks all requests were for chocolate, 

sweets and crisps) and the food on offer at staff conferences and other events. 

 

Recommendation One 

 

That the Council build on the healthy weight declaration and improve itself as a leader in 

healthy weight and lifestyle: 

 

a) That all Services receive information from Public Health on the Council’s role in being a 

leader in building a healthy lifestyle amongst staff and residents and support in order to 

Page 95



Blackpool Council 
Overview and Scrutiny - Improving Services for the Community 

 

 

 

Healthy Weight       Page 8 of 19                                                                                           
FINAL REPORT  

address any alterations to be made in provision to ensure healthy lifestyle is at the heart of 

everything the Council does. 

 

b) To promote further the offers already available to staff such as the Corporate Leisure 

Scheme and that the offer to staff be explored further to determine whether provision of 

activities such as yoga and pilates (as provided by the Hospital’s Trust to staff) before and after 

work could be supported. 

 

 
 
4.2 Diet and Nutrition 
 
4.2.1 The two key aspects of a healthy weight and healthy lifestyle were noted as a good diet 

and nutrition and a physically active lifestyle. The Director of Public Health suggested that 
the current food landscape was creating an obesogenic environment whereby it was easy 
and cheap to access unhealthy food. In order to provide a healthier food environment 
the Council was working with local businesses to provide healthy options and had 
bestowed a Healthier Choices Award on 118 local businesses since 2017. A new junior 
version of the scheme was also launched in 2019 to encourage businesses to support 
infant feeding, complimentary feeding and offering free water and milk to children, to 
which 30 businesses have already signed up to. 

 
4.2.2 Other schemes and campaigns in relation to healthy eating were Refill which provided 

water points to refill bottles, Give Up Loving Pop (GULP) which aimed to reduce the 
consumption of sugary drinks and a Ministry of Food Programme to teach dads to cook 
more at home and make healthier choices. The success of all these initiatives was 
considered and it was noted that healthy weight and lifestyle was a secondary benefit for 
many and it was difficult to demonstrate the impact of individual projects on healthy 
weight. What could be demonstrated was the individual success of initiatives and it was 
noted that the number of fizzy and sugary drink free days for children involved in the 
GULP challenge in 2018/2019 was 15,140 and that improvements had been seen in the 
dental health of children in Blackpool since the introduction of the initiative. 

 
4.2.3 The Panel was advised that the Council has a clear challenge in balancing healthier 

environments and the demand for thriving and vibrant high streets. In particular, the 
food environment, as previously mentioned, plays a key role in promoting a healthy diet 
including an individual’s proximity to food retail outlets and the type of food available. 
The food environment is constantly evolving with a wide range of choice of what to eat 
and when to eat. Whilst not all fast food is unhealthy it is typically high in saturated fat, 
salt, sugar and calories. It was considered that maintaining choice was important, as was 
supporting residents to easily identify health options. 

 
4.2.4 It was reported that Pubic Health had been working with the Planning Service to look at 

how to tackle the number of fast food takeaways. Blackpool has decided to include the 
restriction on fast food takeaways as part of the Planning Local Plan. The proposal is to 
prevent the development of A5 (hot food takeaways) uses in or within 400 metres of 
wards where more than 15% of the Year 6 pupils or 10% of reception pupils are classified 
as very overweight. 

Page 96



Blackpool Council 
Overview and Scrutiny - Improving Services for the Community 

 

 

 

Healthy Weight       Page 9 of 19                                                                                           
FINAL REPORT  

4.2.5 It was considered that a large number of factors relating to diet and nutrition were 
responsibilities of national government and it was noted that Council Officers regularly 
lobbied the Government on issues from labelling of food to food advertising, in these 
areas the control and influence of the Council was limited. 

 
4.3 Healthy Lifestyle Programmes 
 
4.3.1 A large number of healthy lifestyle programmes were in place and ranged from the 

‘Making Changes’ family weight management programme delivered by Leisure Services 
which works with families to educate them on how to lead a healthy lifestyle, to school 
based initiatives detailed in section 4.5 below, to Family Fit2Go which worked with 526 
families over three weeks to support parents to make healthier choices for the whole 
family. 

 
4.3.2 A key project discussed was Fit Fans, a free 13 week weight management programme 

delivered to adults, taking place at the football stadium and typically aimed at football 
fans who collectively formed bonds and connections based on their shared interest, 
which sustained their involvement and motivation. The first year of the pilot engaged 
with 72 people, of which 58% completed the programme. Collectively they lost 35.6 
stone and reduced their waist size by 314.4cm. Members considered that although the 
initiative had been successful for participants the number of participants in this scheme, 
as well as a number of others, was low and that due to the high number of obese adults 
in Blackpool a more universal provision or improved communication could be required. 

 
4.4 Early Years 
 
4.4.1 The Panel discussed the initiatives in place for 0-4 year olds, noting the importance of 

working with parents and instilling a healthy lifestyle at an early age. It was considered 
waiting until school age was too late, given that the statistics demonstrated that 28.6% of 
children in Blackpool were overweight or obese at reception age. The Panel noted the 
new initiative ‘Learn to feed’ a new peer led messaging service around infant feeding, 
Better Start Fit2Go which focussed on children aged between two and four years in the 
key wards, ‘Little Feet’ encouraging parents and nursery age children to walk to nursery 
and Better Start Move, Play and Grow, again working with children aged two to four in 
the Better Start wards. 

 
4.4.2 Members noted that all initiatives bar one were provided by Better Start and that no 

information had been received that suggested any universal provision of services to pre-
school children or early years’ settings. This presented as a gap in service provision in a 
key age group which required further investigation. 

 

Recommendation Two 

 

That Public Health explores the universal support and provision for children aged 0-4 years old 

and their parents on healthy weight, eating and lifestyle in order to identify any gaps and how 

those gaps in provision could be met. 

 

 

Page 97



Blackpool Council 
Overview and Scrutiny - Improving Services for the Community 

 

 

 

Healthy Weight       Page 10 of 19                                                                                           
FINAL REPORT  

4.5 Primary Schools 
 
4.5.1 The Department for Education updated the guidance to school governing bodies in 

March 2019 through the ‘School Food in England; Advice for Governing Bodies’ 
document. The document states that; ‘The Government encourages all schools to 
promote healthy eating and provide healthy, tasty and nutritious food and drink. 
Compliance with the School Food Standards is mandatory for all maintained schools. We 
also expect all academies and free schools to comply with the standards, and since 2014 
we have made this an explicit requirement in their funding agreements. These school food 
standards are to ensure that food provided to pupils in school is nutritious and of high 
quality; to promote good nutritional health in all pupils; protect those who are 
nutritionally vulnerable and to promote good eating behaviour.’ 

 
4.5.2 The Panel was informed that Blackpool has a total of 34 primary schools, of which 20 are 

academies and seven secondary schools, all of which are academies. The schools use a 
total of six different catering providers – Blackpool Catering Services (Blackpool Council), 
Mellors, P&A, Chartwells, Lancashire County Council and Aspens. The quality of food 
provision varies greatly across these providers and it is evident that a number of schools 
are not meeting the School Food Standards as required by central government, according 
to research undertaken by the Council’s Public Health and Catering Services Teams. With 
31% of children and young people eligible for free school meals across Blackpool, the 
food provision can contribute significantly to the overall food consumption for pupils 
during term time. 

 
4.5.4 The Public Health Team has undertaken some work in schools such as ‘Healthy Lunch 

Boxes’ and a resource has now been developed which will be utilised by Blackpool FC 
Community Trust to support and guide parents in producing a healthy lunchbox. Public 
Health also commissions the universal free school breakfast scheme. Initial evaluation of 
the scheme suggested that children felt happier and more alert after the breakfast. 
Members noted the concerns with the scheme in relation to the quality of the breakfast 
being provided and the new approach to delivery to be taken. 

 
4.5.3 Members noted a wide range of initiatives provided to children of primary school age 

such as Sport4Champions, the School Games Programme attended by over 28,000 young 
people in 2018/2019 and a particular scheme of note to the Panel was the Fit2Go project 
– a programme which is being delivered to every Year 4 class in Blackpool by Blackpool 
Football Community Trust. The project is delivered over six weeks and looks at healthy 
eating, physical activity and how to live a well-balanced lifestyle. It was considered that a 
universal provision such as Fit2Go which could impact on every child in Blackpool was 
extremely beneficial and, if the future of the programme could be protected, it would 
guarantee that all children could continue to receive a healthy lifestyle education at an 
age that it could make an impact on the rest of their lives. 

 
4.5.5 Provision during school holidays was also being addressed, with a new Summer Holiday 

Activity Scheme funded by the Blackpool Opportunity Area providing a wide range of 
activities in six areas. The key findings of the scheme: 

 In total 567 children attended at least one session, with 1,900 sessions 

attended 

 Of these, 27 children were not of school age 

Page 98



Blackpool Council 
Overview and Scrutiny - Improving Services for the Community 

 

 

 

Healthy Weight       Page 11 of 19                                                                                           
FINAL REPORT  

 Of the children who were school age attending, 58.1% were eligible for free 

school meals 

 The majority of children were aged seven to 11 years 

It was further noted that the impact on those attending had been wider than being 
active, with levels of reported anti-social behaviour reducing in the areas covered by the 
scheme. 

 

Recommendation Three 

 

That Blackpool Council aspires to all schools using a catering provision that meet the expected 

healthy eating standards: 

 

a) That the Adult Social Care and Health Scrutiny Committee writes to all Chairs of Governors of 

schools not meeting the School Food Standards as prescribed for schools to challenge them to 

make improvements and to offer the schools the opportunity to work with Public Health in 

order to develop a healthy and balanced menu. 

 

b) That the Council explores how to improve working with other providers of catering services 

to schools in order: 

 

- To improve their menus and ensure they are healthy and balanced 

- To gather information on the uptake of children receiving free school meals across both key 

stages and those opting to have universal free school meals in key stage 1 

- To offer children taking a packed lunch the opportunity to access the salad bar provided for 

children eating school meals. 

 

 
 

Recommendation Four 

 

That the Council recommend that the Fit2go scheme be prioritised for continued funding by 

Blackpool Council, Blackpool CCG and Blackpool FC Community Trust to ensure that it 

continues and that the organisations be requested to determine whether a longer contract for 

provision could be supported. 

 

 
 
4.6 Our Children 
 
4.6.1 The Panel was presented with information relating to specific provision of support to Our 

Children and Foster Carers in relation to achieving a healthy lifestyle. This was highlighted 

as an area of concern to Members with it considered that some children entering care 

already had unhealthy relationships with food. They may have a poor nutritional status 

Page 99



Blackpool Council 
Overview and Scrutiny - Improving Services for the Community 

 

 

 

Healthy Weight       Page 12 of 19                                                                                           
FINAL REPORT  

and demonstrate anxiety around food linked to early experiences of either abuse or 

neglect. Reports that children are not able to use cutlery and are picky eaters are 

common. From a nutrition perspective many of the children appear to be 

undernourished and may well be deficient in vitamins and minerals. Once in care, some 

children will hoard food especially if food was sparse at home or food is locked away in 

the care setting itself. Many looked after children show signs of being emotional eaters 

either over eating or restricting food. Establishing appropriate support for those 

employed or living in a care setting could help to address these challenges. 

 

Recommendation Five 

 

That Public Health work with Children’s Services to provide an offer of healthy eating support 

and education to children in care, foster carers and those that work in care settings. 

 

 

4.7 Young People 

 

4.7.1 Members discussed the difficulties in ensuring that young people at high school had the 

opportunity to create a healthy lifestyle. Concerns were raised regarding the timings of 

school days and the food on offer to students at their morning break. It was also noted 

that many of the schemes discussed at the review meeting had been aimed at children 

under the age of 11 and adults leaving a gap in provision for young people. 

 

4.7.2 After discussing potential options available to the Council in addressing the gap in 

provision for young people it was considered that the feasibility of providing free gym 

access to young people aged 11 to 18 should be considered. It was noted that the 

Council’s gyms were quieter at certain times of the day and that the new e-gym 

equipment was easy and safe to use by young people, potentially providing an 

opportunity to engage with young people over fitness and wellbeing. 

 

Recommendation Six 

 

To explore the feasibility of providing free gym access to young people aged 11 to 18. 

 

 

4.8 Physical Activity and Health Interventions for Adults 

 

4.8.1 Members noted the resources on offer in Blackpool such as the beach, promenade and 

excellent parks and the importance of encouraging people to utilise those resources to 

increase their own wellbeing. It was also considered that in addition to all the initiatives 

and support provided a key aim must be to increase the resilience of people so that they 

could continue to lead a healthy lifestyle once the initiative they had taken part in had 

Page 100



Blackpool Council 
Overview and Scrutiny - Improving Services for the Community 

 

 

 

Healthy Weight       Page 13 of 19                                                                                           
FINAL REPORT  

come to an end. The majority of programmes were time limited due to funding and it was 

therefore not sustainable to provide an initiative without also teaching people how to do 

it on their own. 

 

4.8.2 The Active Blackpool Programme was noted as a key initiative in supporting adults to lose 

weight and achieve a healthy lifestyle and the Panel heard a number of testimonials from 

service users as to the success of the initiative. Active Blackpool is an open-ended health 

referral programme aimed at individuals who would benefit from a more active lifestyle. 

Traditionally, referrals have been received into the programme from health professionals 

such as GPs, however, a number of partners can refer people and in 2018/2019 there 

were over 65,000 attendances. The service can be accessed for life, making it one of the 

few initiatives not time limited. The Programme also has strong links to the Cardiac 

Rehabilitation Service at Blackpool Victoria Hospital and received 1,270 referrals in 

2018/2019 for clients with a cardiac condition and, in September 2019, a neuro 

rehabilitation programme commenced funded by the Stroke Association as part of a 12 

month pilot. 

 

4.8.3 Other programmes available for adults include ‘Man v Fat’ which aims to increase 

physical activity in overweight men, Steps to Health, providing seven walks each week 

from various locations in Blackpool, the Feel Good Factory to which there were over 

71,000 attendances in 2018/2019 and a total inch loss of 6,490 and Health and Fitness 

subsidies for local residents at the Council’s three large fitness facilities. 

 

4.8.4 The Panel was also provided with information on the Specialist Weight Management 

Service and the National Diabetes Prevention Programme which provided interventions 

for individuals identified as being at high risk of developing Type 2 diabetes. To date 

there had been 683 referrals into the programme of which 455 had chosen to participate. 

 

4.9 Domiciliary Service Users 

 

4.9.1 Adult Services work with a number of care at home providers through the Quality 

Monitoring Team that provide services to a large number of adults in Blackpool. It is 

known that time is restricted for visits and that often meals need to be provided in a 

short amount of time, which does not necessarily lend itself to a healthy meal being 

provided, and microwave meals are often utilised. It was presented to the Panel that 

there was an opportunity to improve the nutritional states of older adults living in the 

community and also to upskill carers employed in the Town. 

  

Recommendation Seven 

 

That Public Health work with Adult Services to identify opportunities to improve the provision 

of meals for adults receiving care in the home. 

Page 101



Blackpool Council 
Overview and Scrutiny - Improving Services for the Community 

 

 

 

Healthy Weight       Page 14 of 19                                                                                           
FINAL REPORT  

4.10  Partnership working 

 

4.10.1 Throughout the review meeting the importance of partnership working was reiterated 

along with the importance of communicating a collective message. In order to tackle the 

high levels of obesity a whole systems approach was required with a view of the whole 

town – planning, highways, active transport and many other areas. To that end Public 

Health had undertaken two workshops to map activities and facilities in order to identify 

interventions and gaps in provision. It was noted that wide scale impact took time and 

that instant success across the population was not possible.  

4.10.2 The influence of partners and schools in particular on healthy weight could not be 

underestimated and strategic engagement across the partnership was required to have 

any real impact. However, this engagement was difficult and working with schools to 

identify children requiring support and disseminating information could be improved. 

The use of social media had also not yet been fully explored. 

4.10.3 Reducing the prevalence of being overweight and obesity by just 1% each year below the 

predicted trend would save £300 million3 in NHS healthcare and NHS social care costs in the 

year 2035 alone. This level of reduction in obesity rates could also lead to the avoidance of 

around 64,200 new cases of cancer between 2015 and 2035.4 It is therefore imperative that 

the NHS play their part in working to improve healthy weight and increase physical activity. It 

was considered by the Panel that this would be best undertaken at a local level – the Fylde 

Coast Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) and the Primary Care Networks. 

4.10.4 Unfortunately, representatives of Blackpool Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) were not in 

attendance at the review meeting. They have provided the following written information to 

be fed into the report: 

In relation to the CCG/ICP role in prevention, there is a clear ‘must-do’ around 

prevention within the NHS Long Term Plan, including obesity in adults and 

children.  The Plan states that more NHS action on prevention and health inequalities 

is required and that action by the NHS is a complement to, not a substitute for, the 

important role of local government. 

The global Burden of Disease (GBD) study quantifies and ranks the contribution of 

various risk factors that cause premature deaths in England. The top five are: 

smoking, poor diet, high blood pressure, obesity, and alcohol and drug use. Air 

pollution and lack of exercise are also significant. These priorities guide our renewed 

NHS prevention programme.  

The Plan also talks about access to weight management services in primary care, the 

diabetes prevention programme, action on healthy NHS premises, and an 

                                                
3 http://obesityhealthalliance.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/OHA-briefing-paper-Costs-of-
Obesity-.pdf  
4 UK Health Forum and Cancer Research UK, Tipping the Scales: Why preventing obesity makes 
economic sense, January 2016 

Page 102

http://obesityhealthalliance.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/OHA-briefing-paper-Costs-of-Obesity-.pdf
http://obesityhealthalliance.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/OHA-briefing-paper-Costs-of-Obesity-.pdf


Blackpool Council 
Overview and Scrutiny - Improving Services for the Community 

 

 

 

Healthy Weight       Page 15 of 19                                                                                           
FINAL REPORT  

improvement in training in medical schools. Locally, the CCG/ICP needs to determine 

how to work in partnership with the Council. The ICP is developing a Strategic Plan, 

which will include actions on health improvement and reducing health inequalities 

that is expected to be completed in draft form in December 2019.  This will also 

include priorities for initiatives that will require funding. When a working draft of the 

Strategy has been agreed the ICP will aim to engage widely with key partners, 

including the local authority and Scrutiny Committee, to refine the Strategy and 

support its implementation. 

 4.10. Blackpool Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust has also made a Healthy Weight 

Declaration and has supported events in the Public Health calendar including nutrition and 

hydration week, walking month and bike to work week. The Trust also hosts events 

throughout the year across multiple sites delivering health checks for staff and volunteers 

which includes blood pressure testing, blood cholesterol testing and BMI measurements. 

During these events community organisations that focus on health eating, boosting physical 

activity, stopping smoking, looking after your mental wellbeing and alcohol intake are invited 

to come along and speak with staff about the offer and sign them up to services. 

4.10. The Hospitals Trust has also advertised walking routes, promoted meditation walks and 

introduced a range of activities such as pilates, yoga and resistance sessions all available at 

the workplace just before or after working hours. 

Recommendation Eight 

 

That Public Health carry out an exercise to consider whether the message from the Council and 

partners regarding healthy weight and lifestyle is delivered consistently and in doing so: 

 

- Explore the effectiveness of FYI in informing residents of the initiatives available and whether 

any alternative methods of communication would be more successful. 

- Explore with partners how messages regarding healthy weight and lifestyle can be 

communicated jointly and consistently. 

 

 

Recommendation Nine 

 

To receive an update from the Clinical Commissioning Group on their progress in working with 

the Council to support healthy weight in the population. 

 

 

Recommendation Ten 

 

That the Committee receive an update on all approved recommendations in approximately six 

months. 

 

Page 103



Blackpool Council 
Overview and Scrutiny - Improving Services for the Community 

 

 

 

Healthy Weight       Page 16 of 19                                                                                           
FINAL REPORT  

5.0 Summary of Recommendations 

 

Recommendation One 

 

That the Council build on the healthy weight declaration and improve itself as a leader in 

healthy weight and lifestyle: 

 

a) That all Services receive information from Public Health on the Council’s role in being a 

leader in building a healthy lifestyle amongst staff and residents and support in order to 

address any alterations to be made in provision to ensure healthy lifestyle is at the heart of 

everything the Council does. 

 

b) To promote further the offers already available to staff such as the Corporate Leisure 

Scheme and that the offer to staff be explored further to determine whether provision of 

activities such as yoga and pilates (as provided by the Hospital’s Trust to staff) before and after 

work could be supported. 

 

Recommendation Two 

 

That Public Health explores the universal support and provision for children aged 0-4 years old 

and their parents on healthy weight, eating and lifestyle in order to identify any gaps and how 

those gaps could be met. 

 

Recommendation Three 

 

That Blackpool Council aspires to all schools using a catering provision that meets the expected 

healthy eating standards: 

 

a) That the Adult Social Care and Health Scrutiny Committee writes to all Chairs of Governors of 

schools not meeting the School Food Standards as prescribed for schools to challenge them to 

make improvements and to offer the schools the opportunity to work with Public Health in 

order to develop a healthy and balanced menu. 

 

b) That the Council explores how to improve working with other providers of catering services 

to schools in order: 

 

- To improve their menus and ensure they are healthy and balanced 

- To gather information on the uptake of children receiving both the free school meals across 

both key stages and those opting to have universal free school meals in key stage 1 

- To offer children taking a packed lunch the opportunity to access the salad bar provided for 

children eating school meals. 
 

Page 104



Blackpool Council 
Overview and Scrutiny - Improving Services for the Community 

 

 

 

Healthy Weight       Page 17 of 19                                                                                           
FINAL REPORT  

Recommendation Four 

 

That the Council recommend that the Fit2go scheme be prioritised for continued funding by 

Blackpool Council, Blackpool CCG and Blackpool FC Community Trust to ensure that it 

continues and that the organisations be requested to determine whether a longer contract for 

provision could be supported. 
 

Recommendation Five 

 

That Public Health work with Children’s Services to provide an offer of healthy eating support 

and education to children in care and those that work in care settings. 
 

Recommendation Six 

 

To explore the feasibility of providing free gym access to young people aged 11 to 18. 

 

Recommendation Seven 

 

That Public Health work with Adult Services to identify opportunities to improve the provision 

of meals for adults receiving care in the home. 

 

Recommendation Eight 

 

That Public Health carry out an exercise to consider whether the message from the Council and 

partners regarding healthy weight and lifestyle is delivered consistently and in doing so: 

 

- Explore the effectiveness of FYI in informing residents of the initiatives available and whether 

any alternative methods of communication would be more successful. 

- Explore, with partners, how messages can be communicated jointly and consistently. 

 

Recommendation Nine 

 

To receive an update from the Clinical Commissioning Group on their progress in working with 

the Council to support healthy weight in the population. 

 
Recommendation Ten 

 

That the Committee receive an update on all approved recommendations in approximately six 

months. 

  

Page 105



Blackpool Council 
Overview and Scrutiny - Improving Services for the Community 

 

 

 

Healthy Weight       Page 18 of 19                                                                                           
FINAL REPORT  

6.0 Financial and Legal Considerations 

 

6.1 Financial 

 

6.1.1 With regard to the financial implications for Blackpool Council, the majority of the 
recommendations relate to the existing work of Public Health and will be incorporated 
within existing budgets. The feasibility and impact on the budget of offering free gym 
access to 11-18 year olds will need to be explored. 

 

6.2  Legal 

 

6.2.1 There are no legal implications. 

 

Page 106



Blackpool Council 
Overview and Scrutiny - Improving Services for the Community 

 

 

 

Healthy Weight       Page 19 of 19                                                                                           
FINAL REPORT  

Healthy Weight Scrutiny Review Action Plan 
To be completed following Committee approval. 

 

Recommendation 

 

 

Councillors Williams 

and Cain, Cabinet 

Member Comments  

 

Rec Accepted 

by Executive?  

 

Target 

Date for 

Action 

 

Lead 

Officer 

 

Committee 

Update 

 

Notes  

       
       
       
       
       
       
       
       
       
       

 

 

P
age 107



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Report to: ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND HEALTH SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

Relevant Officer: Mrs Sharon Davis, Scrutiny Manager 

Date of Meeting: 7 January 2020 

 

JOINT HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE FOR THE LANCASHIRE AND SOUTH 
CUMBRIA INTEGRATED CARE SYSTEM 
 

1.0  
 

Purpose of the report: 
 

1.1  
 

To approve the terms of reference for the Joint Health Scrutiny Committee for the 
Lancashire and South Cumbria Integrated Care System and appoint three Committee 
Members to the Joint Committee. 
 

2.0  Recommendation(s): 
 

2.1  
 
2.2 

To approve the terms of reference. 
 
To appoint three Committee Members, two Labour and one Conservative to the Joint 
Committee to ensure it is politically balanced across the four local authorities 
participating in the Joint Committee. 
 

3.0  Reasons for recommendation(s): 
 

3.1  
 

A Joint Health Scrutiny Committee will allow for greater scrutiny across the Integrated 
Care System. 
 

3.2  Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or approved by 
the Council? 
 

No 

3.3  Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved budget? 
 

Yes 

4.0  Other alternative options to be considered: 
 

4.1  None. 
 

5.0  Council priority: 
 

5.1  The relevant Council priority is: 

 Communities: Creating stronger communities and increasing resilience. 
 

Page 109

Agenda Item 9



6.0  Background information 
 

6.1 
 
 
 
6.2 
 
 
 
 
 

In September 2019, Council extended the responsibilities of the Adult Social Care and 
Health Scrutiny Committee to include the appointment of joint health scrutiny 
committees. 
 
The Joint Health Scrutiny Committee for the Lancashire and South Cumbria Integrated 
Care System (ICS) incorporates the whole of the ICS footprint and each of the other 
three Councils in the area (Lancashire County Council, Blackburn with Darwen Council 
and Cumbria County Council are also being asked to approve the same terms of 
reference to establish the new Joint Committee. 

6.3 
 
 
 
 
6.4 

Appointments will be made on a politically balanced basis with three Members sought 
from each authority, two from the administration and one from the lead opposition 
party, as contained within the terms of reference appended to this report for 
approval. 
 
The arrangements would allow scrutiny to take place of services provided and 
commissioned at an ICS level that affect the whole of the Lancashire area, more 
effectively and without duplication across the individual authorities, but will not 
prevent any of the individual committees at each parent authority from carrying out 
any scrutiny work that is determined as appropriate. 

  
 Does the information submitted include any exempt information? 

 
No 

7.0  List of Appendices: 
 

 

7.1  Appendix 9(a): Terms of reference for Joint Health Scrutiny Committee 
 

8.0  Legal considerations: 
 

8.1  Upper tier authorities have a duty for scrutiny of local health services in accordance 
with the Health and Social Care Act 2001, S190 of the Health and Social Care Act 
2012, the Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health 
Scrutiny) Regulations 2013. 
 

9.0  Human resources considerations: 
 

9.1  None. 
 

10.0  Equalities considerations: 
 

10.1  None. 
 

Page 110



11.0  Financial considerations: 
 

11.1  None. 
 

12.0  Risk management considerations: 
 

12.1  None. 
 

13.0  Ethical considerations: 
 

13.1  None. 
 

14.0  Internal/external consultation undertaken: 
 

14.1  None. 
 

15.0  Background papers: 
 

15.1  None. 
 
  

 

Page 111



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 9(a) 

Updated 16 December 2019 

 

Joint Health Scrutiny Committee for the Lancashire and South Cumbria Integrated 
Care System (ICS) 

 
Terms of reference 
 
1. Title 
 
The Committee to be named the Joint Health Scrutiny Committee for the Lancashire 
and South Cumbria Integrated Care System (ICS). 
 
2. Scope and function 
 
To consider proposed health service changes that will directly affect all four upper 
tier local authorities within the Lancashire and South Cumbria areas. 
 
To exercise the statutory functions of a health scrutiny committee under the 
provisions of the National Health Service Act 2006; the Local Government and Public 
Involvement in Health Act 2007; and the Local Authority (Public Health, Health and 
Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013 and to make reports and 
recommendations to NHS bodies as appropriate in relation to matters which directly 
affect all four upper tier local authorities within the Lancashire and South Cumbria 
areas.  
 
The joint committee will establish an annual work plan to determine the specific 
issues to be addressed for the forthcoming municipal year. 
 
3. Membership 
 
The membership of the joint committee comprises: 

 3 elected voting Members and up to 3 non-voting district council co-opted 
members from the Lancashire County Council Health Scrutiny Committee  

 3 elected voting Members from the Cumbria County Council Health Scrutiny 
Committee 

 3 elected voting Members from the Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council 
People Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 3 elected voting Members from the Blackpool Council Adult Social Care and 
Health Scrutiny Committee 

 
Each local authority to appoint on the basis of two members from the administration 
and one opposition member. 
 
The Joint Committee shall be appointed annually prior to its first meeting in each 
municipal year. 
 
When selecting individual members to serve on the Joint Committee, each local 
authority should consider a member’s experience, expertise, and interest in health 

Page 113



Appendix 9(a) 

Updated 16 December 2019 

 

scrutiny; as well as the ability to act impartially, work as part of a group, and the 
capacity to serve. 
 
4. Substitutes or replacements 
 
Any member of the Joint Committee may be represented at a meeting of the Joint 
Committee by a substitute or replacement appointed by the appropriate local 
authority. Local authorities in these circumstances are encouraged to ensure the 
substitute or replacement member's experience, expertise, and interest in health 
scrutiny is taken into consideration when appointing either on a temporary or 
permanent basis; notwithstanding the ability to act impartially, work as part of a 
group and the capacity to serve. Substitutes will have the same voting rights as the 
member they replace and count towards the establishment of a quorum. 
 
If any Member ceases to be a Councillor of their local authority or if the local 
authority notifies of any changes to the membership they shall no longer be a 
member of the Joint Committee. 
 
5. Chair and Vice Chair   
 
The Chair and the Vice Chair shall be elected by the Joint Committee from among the 
Committee’s voting membership at the first meeting in each municipal year. It is 
intended that the Chair shall rotate between each local authority for each municipal 
year. The elected Chair must be a Member of a different local authority to the Vice 
Chair. 
 
The Chair shall preside at the meetings. In the absence of the Chair, the Vice Chair 
shall Chair the meeting. In the absence of both the Chair and the Vice Chair, the Joint 
Committee Members present shall elect a Chair for that meeting from among their 
number of voting members. 
 
6. Secretary of State Referrals 
 
In the case of contested NHS proposals for substantial service changes or any NHS 
proposal which the Joint Committee feels has been the subject of inadequate 
consultation, by majority agreement, the Joint Committee to have delegated 
authority to directly refer the matter to the relevant Secretary of State.  
 
That in relation to the function described above, any Joint Committee decision on 
whether or not a referral should be made to the relevant Secretary of State is not 
required to be approved by the individual Overview and Scrutiny Committees at 
those local authorities that may be directly affected by the decision.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 114



Appendix 9(a) 

Updated 16 December 2019 

 

7. Scrutiny Arrangements  
 
Decisions and recommendations may only be made by the Joint Committee. 
However task and finish groups may be established if the Joint Committee deem this 
to be the most appropriate method of scrutiny.  
 
The Joint Committee has the following powers: 
 

 To require the following person/s to attend the Joint Committee to answer 
questions or supply evidence:  

 
a) The Chief Officer (or their representatives) of the Lancashire and South 

Cumbria Integrated Care System, Partnerships and Neighbourhoods; 
 

b) Any relevant Chief Executives (or their representatives) of local NHS 
bodies; 
 

c) The relevant Directors of Public Health, Adult and Children's Social Care 
from the four Local Authorities within the Integrated Care System area; 
 

d) Any relevant Chief Officer of third sector organisations; 
 

 To invite to any meeting of the Joint Committee and permit to participate in 
discussion and debate, but not to vote, any person not an elected Member 
appointed to the Joint Committee, whom the Joint Committee considers 
would assist it in carrying out its functions. 

 

 To co-opt or appoint independent technical advisers as and when necessary 
and under such terms as the Joint Committee thinks appropriate, persons 
with appropriate expertise in relevant health matters, without voting rights. 

 

 To invite the Chief Officers (or their representatives) from the four 
Healthwatch bodies within the Integrated Care System area. 

 

 To request findings and recommendations from any Clinical Senate review 
relating to a proposal. 
 

 Make reports or recommendations to the relevant health bodies as 
appropriate. 

 
8. Review of functions, administration arrangements and terms of reference 
 
To review at least annually the functions of, and administration arrangements for 
meetings of the Joint Committee.  
 
To annually review the Joint Committee’s terms of reference. 
 

Page 115



Appendix 9(a) 

Updated 16 December 2019 

 

9. Conduct of Business Meetings 
 
The Clerk to the Joint Committee shall, with the agreement of the Chair and the Vice 
Chair, arrange meetings of the Joint Committee as and when necessary 
(discretionary) or for the purposes of responding to consultation by a Responsible 
Person (mandatory) in accordance with Regulation 30 of the Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013. An 
Annual General Meeting will be scheduled each year. 
 
The public are welcome to attend and observe meetings, however, there are no 
public speaking rights 
 
No meetings of the Joint Committee shall be held during the notice of election 
period for any elections. 
 
Any scheduled Joint meeting may be cancelled where the Chair and the Vice Chair of 
the Joint Committee both agree. 
 
Where possible the venue for meetings of the Joint Committee shall be rotated 
between the local authorities. Secretarial support for the Committee shall be from 
the local authority from which the Chair of the Joint Committee is a member of.  
 

a) Quorum 
The quorum for the Joint Committee shall be five voting members from at 
least three of the affected upper tier local authorities being present. During 
any meeting if the chair counts the number of councillors present and 
declares there is not a quorum present, then the meeting will adjourn 
immediately. Remaining business will be considered at a time and date fixed 
by the chair. If a date is not fixed, the remaining business will be considered 
at the next meeting. 

 
b) Agendas and Items of business 

Agendas for meetings of the Joint Committee shall be circulated at least five 
working days in advance of the meetings and in accordance with the 
provisions of legislation relating to Access to Information. 

 
Other than in exceptional circumstances, where agreed by the Chair, the only 
business to be considered at any meeting will be that which has been 
notified. 

 
c) Declarations of Interest 

Any Member having a non-pecuniary interest must disclose that fact and act 
accordingly. Those Members declaring a pecuniary interest must leave the 
room and take no part in the discussion or influence that particular item. 
Members must give reference to the individual code of conduct of their local 
authority when declaring an interest. 

 

Page 116



Appendix 9(a) 

Updated 16 December 2019 

 

d) Decisions 
The Joint Committee will seek to make decisions and recommendations by 
consensus whenever possible. In the event of any disagreement, the Chair 
will seek to resolve any differences.  
 
Where it is not possible to achieve a consensus, voting is by show of hands. 
 
The Chair shall have a second or casting vote. 

 
e) Minutes 

The minutes of each Joint meeting shall be submitted for information to the 
individual Overview and Scrutiny Committees at the respective local 
authorities.  

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND HEALTH SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 
 

Relevant Officer: Mrs Sharon Davis, Scrutiny Manager. 

Date of Meeting: 6 February 2020 

 

 

SCRUTINY WORKPLAN 
 

1.0 
 

Purpose of the report: 
 

1.1 To review the work of the Committee, the implementation of recommendations and 
approve the scoping documents for reviews on Supported Housing and Drug Related 
Deaths. 
 

2.0 Recommendations: 
 

2.1 
 
 

2.2 
 
2.3 
 
2.4 
 
 

To approve the Committee Workplan, taking into account any suggestions for 
amendment or addition. 
 

To monitor the implementation of the Committee’s recommendations/actions. 
 

To approve the scoping document for the Supported Housing Scrutiny Review. 
 
To approve the scoping document for the Drug Related Death Scrutiny Review. 
 

3.0 
 

Reasons for recommendations: 

3.1 
 

To ensure the Committee is carrying out its work efficiently and effectively. 
 

3.2a Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or 
approved by the Council? 
 

No 

3.2b Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved 
budget? 
 

N/A 

3.3 
 

Other alternative options to be considered: 
 

 None. 
 
 
 

Page 119

Agenda Item 10



4.0 Council Priority: 
 

4.1 The relevant Council Priority is: 
 

 Communities: Creating stronger communities and increasing resilience. 
 

5.0 Background Information 
 

5.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Scrutiny Workplan 
 
The Committee’s Workplan is attached at Appendix 10(a).  The Workplan is a flexible 
document that sets out the work that will be undertaken by the Committee over the 
course of the year, both through scrutiny review and committee meetings.  
 
Committee Members are invited to suggest topics at any time that might be suitable 
for scrutiny review through completion of the Scrutiny Review Checklist which is 
attached at Appendix 10(b).  The checklist forms part of the mandatory scrutiny 
procedure for establishing review panels and must therefore be completed and 
submitted for consideration by the Committee, prior to a topic being approved for 
scrutiny. 
 

5.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Implementation of Recommendations/Actions 
 
The table attached at Appendix 10(c) has been developed to assist the Committee in 
effectively ensuring that the recommendations made by the Committee are acted 
upon.  The table will be regularly updated and submitted to each Committee 
meeting.  
 
Members are requested to consider the updates provided in the table and ask follow 
up questions as appropriate to ensure that all recommendations are implemented. 
 
Scrutiny Review Scoping Documents 
 
Attached the report are two scoping documents for the Supported Housing Scrutiny 
Review as established at the previous meeting of the Committee and Drug Related 
Deaths, a topic identified through the scrutiny workplanning process. Members are 
requested to consider both scoping documents for approval, making any required 
amendments as appropriate. 

 Does the information submitted include any exempt information? No 
  

List of Appendices: 
 

 

 Appendix 10(a): Adult Social Care and Health Scrutiny Committee Workplan  

Page 120



Appendix 10(b): Scrutiny Review Checklist 
Appendix 10(c): Implementation of Recommendations/Actions 
Appendix 10(d): Supported Housing Scoping Document 
Appendix 10(e): Drug Related Death Scoping Document 
 

 

6.0 Legal considerations: 
 

6.1 None. 
 

7.0 Human Resources considerations: 
 

7.1 
 

None. 
 

8.0 Equalities considerations: 
 

8.1 
 

None. 
 

9.0 Financial considerations: 
 

9.1 
 

None. 
 

10.0 Risk management considerations: 
 

10.1 None. 
 

11.0 Ethical considerations: 
 

11.1 
 

None. 

12.0 Internal/ External Consultation undertaken: 
 

12.1 
 

None. 
 

13.0 Background papers: 
 

13.1 
 

None. 

 

Page 121



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 10(a) 

Adult Social Care And Health Scrutiny Committee Work Plan 2019-2020  

6 February 
2020 

1 Deprivation of Liberty Standards key changes  
2 Smoking Cessation evaluation of initiatives and impact on smoking levels, has the 

council’s priority been achieved 
3 Fulfilling Lives Success of the project and legacy planning for support for people with 

multiple complex needs 
4 Integrated Care System Strategy update 
5 Healthy Weight Final Scrutiny Review Report for approval 
6 Drug Related Death Scrutiny Review Scoping Document for approval 
7 Approval of Joint Committee terms of reference, and appointment of three Members 

to sit on the Committee 
 

Special 
Meeting – 25 
March 2020 
 

Mental Health Services to continue to monitor and evaluate the impact of changes in 
mental health service provision. 
 

29 April 2020 1 North West Ambulance Service detailed annual performance report 
2 Screening and Vaccination Uptake to request NHS England attendance to consider 

uptake levels in Blackpool 
3 Infant mortality and Maternity Services 
4 Integrated Care Partnership development of the partnership, progress with the 

Strategy 
5 Whole System Transfers of Care Scrutiny Report review of remaining outstanding 

recommendations implementation, plus an Impact Analysis of the Review 
 

24 June 2020 1 Breastfeeding Support to consider the support on offer and the impact on the number 
of mothers choosing to breastfeed. 

2 Blackpool Clinical Commissioning Group End of Year Performance attendance 
requested from partners in ICP. 

3 Healthwatch Annual Report 2019/2020 and priorities for 2020/2021 
 

TBC 
September 
2020 

1. Director of Public Health’s Annual Report 

TBC 
December 
2020 

1 Blackpool Clinical Commissioning Group Mid-Year Performance Report attendance 
requested from partners in ICP 

2 Blackpool Safeguarding Adult Board Annual Report 2019/2020 
 

 

Scrutiny Review Work  
 

9 September 2019 Renal Dialysis Service Reconfiguration discussion. Outcomes from finalised reconfiguration to 
be received in early 2020. 

8 October 2019 Head and Neck and Vascular Services and Stroke Improvement. Further update to be held in 
February 2020. 

19 November 2019 Task and Finish Scrutiny review of Healthy Weight. 
 

26 November 2019 Input into policy development of Drug and Alcohol Strategies. 

TBC 2020 Input into Integrated Care Partnership Strategy development. 
 

Page 123



Appendix 10(a) 

2 March 2020 Children and Adolescent Mental Health Services Redesign. Joint meeting to be held 
with Children and Young People’s Scrutiny Committee. To determine whether 
further review is required as per below. 
 

20 April 2020 Scrutiny review of Supported Housing following agreement at the Committee 
meeting in January 2020. 
 

13 June 2020 Scrutiny review of Drug Related Early Deaths. Numbers have increased in both 
young and older people that misuse substances. To also look at preventing drug use 
(uptake of Hope and Wish).  
 

TBC Scrutiny review of one key theme identified from the ICP five year strategy. 
Possible items include population health management, health inequalities, planned 
care and urgent and emergency care.  
 

TBC Proposed joint piece of work with Children and Young People’s Scrutiny Committee: 
Child and Adolescent Mental Health to include prevalence, performance of CAMHS, 
emotional health, looked after children and additional educational needs. 
Initial meeting to consider service redesign (as above) – further scrutiny work to be 
identified following the meeting. 
 

 

Page 124



Appendix 10 (b) 

 

SCRUTINY SELECTION CHECKLIST 
 
Title of proposed Scrutiny:  
 
The list is intended to assist the relevant scrutiny committee in deciding whether or not to approve a 
topic that has been suggested for scrutiny. 
 
Whilst no minimum or maximum number of ‘yes’ answers are formally required, the relevant scrutiny 
committee is recommended to place higher priority on topics related to the performance and 
priorities of the Council. 

Yes/No 

The review will add value to the Council and/or its partners overall performance: 
 
 

 

The review is in relation to one or more of the Council’s priorities: 
 
 

 

The Council or its partners are not performing well in this area: 
 
 

 

It is an area where a number of complaints (or bad press) have been received: 
 
 

 

The issue is strategic and significant: 
 
 

 

There is evidence of public interest in the topic: 
 
 

 

The issue has potential impact for one or more sections of the community: 
 
 

 

Service or policy changes are planned and scrutiny could have a positive input: 
 
 

 

Adequate resources (both members and officers) are available to carry out the scrutiny: 
 
 

 

 

Please give any further details on the proposed review: 
 
 
 
Completed by:                                                               Date:  

 
 

Page 125



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 10(c) 

MONITORING THE IMPLEMENTATION OF SCRUTINY RECOMMENDATIONS 

 DATE OF 
REC 

RECOMMENDATION TARGET 
DATE 

RESPONSIBLE 
OFFICER 

UPDATE RAG 
RATING 

1 13.02.19 That the Chairman 
request that 
consideration be given 
to providing suicide 
awareness training for 
all Members. 
 

October 
2019 

Chairman Members have been offered a number of dates for training arranged 
internally by Organisational and Workforce development. There is also a 
specific session for Members to be held on Monday 3 February at 6pm. 

Completed. 

2 16.10.19 To receive a further 
report on mental 
health services in six 
months that 
specifically addressed: 

 The 
implementation of 
the 
recommendations 
of the external 
review report. 

 The progress in 
establishing the 
Crisis support 
including the crisis 
café and crisis 
house and the 
24/7 crisis line. 

 The issue of drugs 
and alcohol in the 
Harbour – the 
extent of the 
problem and the 

March 
2020 

Caroline 
Donovan, 
CEO, LCFT 
 
Sharon 
Davis, 
Scrutiny 
Manager 

Meeting established for 25 March 2020. Invites sent. Ongoing. 

P
age 127



Appendix 10(c) 

 DATE OF 
REC 

RECOMMENDATION TARGET 
DATE 

RESPONSIBLE 
OFFICER 

UPDATE RAG 
RATING 

action taken to 
address it. 

 The number of 
new beds opened 
and how many 
more were to be 
opened. 

 That the report be 
a joint report 
provided by LCFT, 
Blackpool 
Teaching Hospital 
NHS Foundation 
Trust and any 
other applicable 
partners. 

 

3 16.10.19 The Committee noted 
that the ICP was 
holding a workshop on 
12 November 2019 on 
the development of 
the Strategy and 
agreed to send a 
representative to 
input if possible. 
 

November 
2019 

Sharon 
Davis, 
Scrutiny 
Manager 

Following the meeting it was determined that a special workshop should 
be established for Members to feed into the development of the Strategy 
and its priorities. This will be set up for January 2020. 
 
Regular contact with ICP representatives, no date has yet been 
forthcoming. 

 

4 16.10.19 The Committee also 
agreed to receive an 
update on the ICP 
Strategy and the 
implementation of the 

April 2020 David 
Bonson, 
COO, CCGs 
 

Added to workplan for 29 April 2020 meeting.  

P
age 128



Appendix 10(c) 

 DATE OF 
REC 

RECOMMENDATION TARGET 
DATE 

RESPONSIBLE 
OFFICER 

UPDATE RAG 
RATING 

Quality Improvement 
Strategy in 
approximately six 
months. 
 

Sharon 
Davis, 
Scrutiny 
Manager 

5 07.01.20 The Committee 
agreed to receive a 
further update in June 
2020 on progress 
made against the CQC 
Diagnosis 
Improvement Plan and 
to specifically request 
the attendance of Mr 
Kevin McGee, Chief 
Executive, Blackpool 
Teaching Hospitals 
NHS Foundation Trust 
at the meeting. 

June 2020 Kevin 
McGee, CEO, 
BTH 

 Not yet 
due. 

6 07.01.20 Members were very 
concerned by the 
issues raised in the 
meeting and agreed to 
establish a review 
panel meeting to 
consider the issues 
further. It was noted 
that the Tourism, 
Economy and 
Communities 
Committee must be 
involved due to the 

April 2020 Sharon 
Davis, 
Scrutiny 
Manager 

A scoping document for the review is attached in the Workplan item for 
approval. 
The Housing and Homelessness Review has been informed as agreed. 
Tourism, Economy and Communities Committee has been informed and 
invited to identify representatives to attend the meeting. 

Completed. 

P
age 129



Appendix 10(c) 

 DATE OF 
REC 

RECOMMENDATION TARGET 
DATE 

RESPONSIBLE 
OFFICER 

UPDATE RAG 
RATING 

cross-cutting nature of 
the issue and that the 
discussions at this 
meeting should be 
forwarded to the 
ongoing Housing and 
Homelessness Scrutiny 
Review Panel in order 
to avoid any 
duplication of work. 

 

WHOLE SYSTEM TRANSFERS OF CARE SCRUTINY REVIEW RECOMMENDATION MONITORING – OUTSTANDING RECOMMENDATIONS 

 DATE OF 
REC 

RECOMMENDATION NEXT 
UPDATE TO 
BE 
REQUESTED 

RESPONSIBLE 
OFFICER 

UPDATE RAG 
RATING 

1 Updated 
03.07.19 

Blackpool Teaching Hospitals 
NHS Foundation Trust to 
explore the impact of delayed 
receipt of prescriptions from 
the pharmacy on discharges 
from hospital and report back 
to the Adult Social Care and 
Health Scrutiny Committee 
with the reasons for pharmacy 
delays and a course of action 
to address those delays at the 
Committee meeting in July 
2019. 
 

January 
2019 
Agreed 
delay till 
April 2020. 

Ms Berenice 
Groves, BTH 

It was noted that further work was required to roll 
out identified improvements across all hospital 
wards. A number of wards had been trialling 
different approaches and the use of Ward Pharmacy 
Technicians had proved positive. Members 
highlighted a number of issues with dispensing of 
prescriptions which demonstrated that further 
improvements were required. It was also noted that 
the discharge lounge, where patients could wait for 
prescriptions, had recently started operating seven 
days per week. 
 
Members were of the opinion that further work was 
required on the recommendation and requested a 
further response in approximately six months. 

Ongoing 

P
age 130



Appendix 10(c) 

 DATE OF 
REC 

RECOMMENDATION NEXT 
UPDATE TO 
BE 
REQUESTED 

RESPONSIBLE 
OFFICER 

UPDATE RAG 
RATING 

 
At the request of Ms Groves and with the 
agreement of the Chairman, a final update on these 
recommendations has been deferred until April 
2020 so that Ms Groves can be in attendance at the 
meeting. 
 

2 Updated 
03.07.19 

That Blackpool Teaching 
Hospitals NHS Foundation 
Trust work with all relevant 
partners to review discharge 
processes and ensure they are 
efficient, effective and to 
identify if any parts of the 
processes could be carried out 
after the patient has left the 
hospital. To report back to the 
Committee meeting in July 
2019. 

January 
2019 
Agreed 
delay till 
April 2020. 

Ms Berenice 
Groves, BTH 

Ms Groves highlighted that a number of pieces of 
work relating to improving discharge processes 
were ongoing. It was noted that each piece of work 
would be tracked with data to determine if it had 
impacted on performance. It was also noted that 
there had been a reduction in the length of stay of 
patients and the impact of the bed reduction 
pathways which could be shared with the 
Committee. 
 
Members requested a further update on the impact 
of the initiatives to improve discharge processes in 
approximately six months. 

Ongoing 

3 Updated 
03.07.19 

That Blackpool Teaching 
Hospitals NHS Foundation 
Trust consider offering parking 
refunds to patients attending 
accident and emergency 
inappropriately. 
 

January 
2019 
Agreed 
delay till 
April 2020. 

Ms Berenice 
Groves, BTH 

It was reported that consideration was being given 
to the first 30 minutes of parking being free, in 
order that patients who inappropriately attended 
the emergency department could then leave 
immediately without facing a charge. The 
Committee suggested that consideration also be 
given to providing free parking tokens for people 
picking up patients in order to further speed up 
their discharge. Furthermore, it was considered that 
the Trust should also explore the costs of parking 

Ongoing 

P
age 131



Appendix 10(c) 

 DATE OF 
REC 

RECOMMENDATION NEXT 
UPDATE TO 
BE 
REQUESTED 

RESPONSIBLE 
OFFICER 

UPDATE RAG 
RATING 

for low income families, cost of parking for families 
of patients who are admitted for a prolonged period 
and how widely refunds for parking for certain 
services such as maternity were advertised. 
 
The initial recommendation was agreed as 
completed. Ms Groves was requested to respond to 
the additional recommendations in approximately 
six months. 

 P
age 132



   Page 1 of 2 

Scrutiny Review Scope 
Proposed Title Scoping Date 

 

Supported Housing Scrutiny Review 
 
January 2020 

Criteria and reasons for selecting topic 

 
At the Adult Social Care and Health Scrutiny Committee meeting in January 2020, Members received a report on 
supported housing. It was noted that supported housing premises were located across Blackpool and that key 
concerns related to how they were funded and the levels of support provided to tenants, who were all vulnerable 
adults. 
 
Members discussed in depth the support that was on offer to tenants and noted that it could be questionable 
quality and that the lack of quality support often led to reports of anti-social behaviour and attendances by the 
Police at premises. There was also an impact on other services including housing options, mental health, 
ambulance services and the emergency department. 
 
Members were very concerned by the issues raised in the meeting and agreed to establish a review panel meeting 
to consider the issues further. It was noted that the Tourism, Economy and Communities Committee must be 
involved due to the cross-cutting nature of the issue. 
 

Which priority within the Council Plan does this topic address? 

 
Priority two - Communities: Creating stronger communities and increasing resilience. 
 

What are the main objectives of the scrutiny? 

To identify all key concerns relating to supported housing. 
To bring partners together to discuss what action can be taken. 
To improve support for extremely vulnerable adults living in Blackpool. 
 

What specific issues will be addressed as part of the scrutiny? 

 
The key risks to vulnerable adults. 
The impact of supported housing on public services, other residents and homelessness. 
The level and range of support provided through supported housing. 
The thresholds and official guidance in place when applying for housing benefit. 
 

What possible outcomes are envisaged in terms of service improvements / benefits to the community? 

 
Reduced impact on the community of poorly managed supported housing. 
Reduced impact on public services. 
Single, powerful voice of all partners to lobby Government to put new regulations in place. 
 

How will the public be involved? (consider invitations / press releases for meetings, consultation with 
community groups / clubs, etc) 

 
Members will be requested to listen to residents’ views of supported housing in their wards and feed this 
information back through the Panel meeting. 
 

How will the scrutiny achieve value for money for the Council / Council Tax payers? 

 
Reduced levels of anti social behaviour and better supported vulnerable adults will mean less impact on public 
services. In addition to improving the lives of the tenants and other residents. 
 

Page 133



   Page 2 of 2 

What primary / new evidence is needed for the scrutiny? 

 
Number of supported housing schemes, cost and location of properties. Levels of support offered. 
Details of good schemes to offer a comparison. 
Anecdotal evidence from all partners on the impact on services such as ambulance call outs, police call outs, 
emergency department attendances, homelessness, mental health services etc. 
 

What secondary / existing information will be needed? (include background information / existing reports 
(consider Internal Audit) / legislation / central government information and reports, etc. 

 
Information relating to existing thresholds and criteria that must be met. 
Details of the Government consultation regarding supported housing carried out in 2017. 
 

Which Council officers / departments will provide information, advice and assistance for the scrutiny? 

Housing Options Manager 
Head of Commissioning and Corporate Delivery 
Adult Services 
Head of Benefits and Customer First and Benefits Manager 
Public Protection 
 

What expert witnesses will the panel request input from outside of the Council? 

 
Representatives from Police, NWAS, CCG, BTH, LCFT, potentially a landlord 
Stephen Ashley, Independent Chair Blackpool Safeguarding Adult Board 
 

What type of meetings (e.g. fact finding, evidence gathering, consultations, questioning, site visits), and how 
many in number are envisaged for the scrutiny? 

 
A one off meeting is envisaged to gather all evidence and question those in attendance before coming to any 
conclusions and recommendations. 
 

Timescales / likely duration of enquiry 

 
TBC 23 April 2020 
 

Lead Scrutiny Officer 

 
Sharon Davis, Scrutiny Manager 
 

Scrutiny Panel Members 

TBC 
 

 

Page 134



   Page 1 of 2 

Scrutiny Review Scope 
Proposed Title Scoping Date 

 

Drug Related Deaths Scrutiny Review 
 
January 2020 

Criteria and reasons for selecting topic 

 
Blackpool has one of the highest levels of drug related deaths in the country. In 2019 alone there were 31 drug 
related deaths of patients who were in receipt of services. This is particularly concerning as Public Health England 
identifies being ‘in service’ as a protective factor. Blackpool also has high levels of non-fatal overdoses. 
 

Which priority within the Council Plan does this topic address? 
 

Priority two - Communities: Creating stronger communities and increasing resilience. 
 

What are the main objectives of the scrutiny? 

 
The Review Panel will highlight the scale of the problem and seek to identify any potential opportunities to make 
improvements to services. 
In particular the review will seek improvement to Health Protection Services and access to those services and seek 
improvements in access to GPs. 
The Review will also bring partners together to provide a more targeted and joined up approach to reducing the 
number of drug related deaths. 
 

What specific issues will be addressed as part of the scrutiny? 

 
The Panel will consider why people are dying and what exactly they are dying of e.g. an aging cohort, multiple co-
morbidities.  
Members will consider links to other services such as housing options and homelessness and the joined up work in 
place. 
There will also be a focus on younger people, preventative services and particular reference to ‘Our Children’. 
Services provided to families will be considered i.e. drug users with children. 
 

What possible outcomes are envisaged in terms of service improvements / benefits to the community? 

 
An overall reduction in drug related deaths would be the best outcome for the review, however, this might not be 
feasible.  
Increased and improved partnership working is a key priority for the review panel as is developing the preventative 
work for young people and ‘Our Children’ in particular. 
 

How will the public be involved? (consider invitations / press releases for meetings, consultation with 
community groups / clubs, etc) 

 
Representation will be sought through the Lived Experience Team. Case studies will also be requested to 
demonstrate real life experiences. 
 

How will the scrutiny achieve value for money for the Council / Council Tax payers? 

 
Through achievement of the main objectives to improve services and reduce harm. 
 

What primary / new evidence is needed for the scrutiny? 

 
Statistics on the numbers of drug related deaths and the reasons for those deaths. 
Data on the number of drug users known to services in Blackpool and estimates of total drug users. 

Page 135



   Page 2 of 2 

Information on Harm Reduction Techniques. 
Information on the new Panel established and the quick wins it has achieved. 
A case study ‘journey of a patient’ – a success story and a not so success story. 
 

What secondary / existing information will be needed? (include background information / existing reports 
(consider Internal Audit) / legislation / central government information and reports, etc. 

 
Budgets and financial information. 
Contract review information and Key Performance Indicators of service providers Horizon and Delphi. 
Legislation around potential options to reduce the numbers of drug related deaths. 
 

Which Council officers / departments will provide information, advice and assistance for the scrutiny? 

 
Public Health 
Housing Options 
 

What expert witnesses will the panel request input from outside of the Council? 

 
Representatives from Horizon, Delphi, A&E, Mental Health Services, NWAS, CCG, Police. 
 

What type of meetings (e.g. fact finding, evidence gathering, consultations, questioning, site visits), and how 
many in number are envisaged for the scrutiny? 

 
One meeting. 
 

Timescales / likely duration of enquiry 

 
One meeting to be held 16 June 2020 
 

Lead Scrutiny Officer 

 
Sharon Davis 
 

Scrutiny Panel Members 

 
Tbc 
 

 

Page 136


	Agenda
	2 MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING HELD ON 7 JANUARY 2020
	Minutes

	4 BLACKPOOL FULFILLING LIVES
	5 LIBERTY PROTECTION SAFEGUARDS
	6 SMOKING CESSATION EVALUATION
	7 LANCASHIRE AND SOUTH CUMBRIA INTEGRATED CARE SYSTEM (ICS) STRATEGY
	Appendix 7a - LCS_ICS_Strategy_DRAFT_January2020

	8 HEALTHY WEIGHT SCRUTINY REVIEW FINAL REPORT
	Appendix 8a FINAL REPORT Healthy Weight

	9 JOINT COMMITTEE TERMS OF REFERENCE
	Appendix 9a Jt Cttee for the ICS Terms of Reference FINAL v2

	10 SCRUTINY WORKPLAN
	Appendix 10a - ASCH Workplan
	Appendix 10b - Scrutiny Checklist
	Appendix 10c Recommendation Monitoring
	Appendix 10d Supported Housing Scoping Document
	Appendix 10e Drug Related Deaths Scoping Document




